

NASA CR- 134742 SwRI 02-3904

Ċ

HERMODYN XPERIMEN Verstudy

えついつ

Research

CSCL

G3/12

06605

Unclas

NSFER Repor

tb

ō

nst.

Z

ASA-

742

Ē

ŝ

TCS

N75-14790

# FLUID PHYSICS, THERMODYNAMICS, AND HEAT TRANSFER EXPERIMENTS IN SPACE:

# Final Report of the Overstudy Committee

by

Franklin T. Dodge, Chairman H. Norman Abramson Stanley W. Angrist Ivan Catton Stuart W. Churchill Richard J. Mannheimer Simon Ostrach Sidney H. Schwartz Jan V. Sengers

SOUTHWEST RESEARCH INSTITUTE San Antonio, Texas

prepared for

### NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

NASA Lewis Research Center Contract NAS 3-17808

1. Report No. NASA CR- 134742	2. Government Access	sion No.	3. Recipient's Catalog	g No.	
4. Title and Subtitle			5 Report Date		
			January 1975		
Fluid Physics, Heat Transfer, and Thermodyn		amics Experi-	6 Performing Organization Code		
ments in Space: Final Report	Committee				
7. Author(s) Franklin T. Dodge, H. Norman Abramson, Stan Angrist, Ivan Catton, Stuart W. Churchill, Richard J. Mannheimer, Simon Ostrach, Sidney H. Schwartz, J. V		son. Stanley W.	8. Performing Organiz	ation Report No.	
		hard J.		22.2004	
		rtz, J. V. Sengers	10 Work Unit No	12-3904	
9. Performing Organization Name and Address	······································				
Southwest Research Institute		ŀ	11. Contract or Grant	No.	
8500 Culebra Road		Į	NAS3-17808		
San Antonio, TX 78284	ł	13 Type of Benort ar	nd Period Covered		
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address			Control to Percet		
National Aeronautics and Space Administration		Ļ	Contractor Re	port	
Lewis Research Center			14. Sponsoring Agency	/ Code	
Cleveland, OH 44135			<u></u>		
15. Supplementary Notes					
Project Manager: W. J. Masica, Head, Gravitational Technology Section, Lewis Research Center, Cleveland, OH 44135					
16. Abstract				- <b></b>	
An overstudy committee composed of six academic and three industrial research scientists was formed to study and recommend fundamental experiments in fluid physics, thermodynamics, and heat transfer for experimentation in orbit, using the Space Shuttle System and a space laboratory. The Space environment, particularly the low-gravity condition, is an indispensable requirement for all the recommended experiments. The experiments fell broadly into five groups: Critical- Point Thermophysical Phenomena, Fluid Surface Dynamics and Capillarity, Convection at Reduced Gravity, Non-Heated Multiphase Mixtures, and Multiphase Heat Transfer. The Committee attempted to assess the effects of "g-jitter" and other perturbations of the gravita- tional field on the conduct of the experiments. A series of ground-based experiments are also recommended to define some of the phenomena and to develop reliable instrumentation.					
17 Kay Wards (Supported by Authority)		10 Dimiliusi - 0	<u> </u>	·	
Reduced Gravity Converting	Flow	io. Distribution Statement			
Weightlessness Liquid Surf	faces	Unclassified - unlimited			
Boiling Menisici					
Critical Point Capillary I	Flow Mixtures				
	ł				
19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page)		f this page)	21. No. of Pages	22, Price*	
Unclassified	Unclassified Unclassified		81		

 $^{*}$  For sale by the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22151

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

INTRODUCTION	3
DISCUSSION OF EXPERIMENTS	6
Critical Point Thermophysical Phenomena	7
Fluid Surface Dynamics and Capillarity	
Convection at Reduced Gravity	
Non-Heated Multiphase Mixtures	
Multiphase Heat Transfer	45
EFFECTS OF A SPACE LABORATORY ENVIRONMENT	
Non-uniformity of Gravitational Field	57
G-Jitter	59
Cosmic Radiation	
Instrumentation	
Role of Principal Investigator	61
CONCLUDING REMARKS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
Ground-Based Studies	62
REFERENCES	68

### SUMMARY

An overstudy committee composed of six academic and three industrial research engineers and scientists was formed to study and recommend fundamental experiments in fluid physics, thermodynamics, and heat transfer for experimentation in orbit using the Space Shuttle System and a space laboratory.

The low-gravity environment available in an orbiting space vehicle, combined when desirable with the vacuum and low-temperature heat-sink of space, makes it possible to explore new phenomena and to conduct tests over a much broader range of parameters than can be done on earth. The Space Shuttle offers the opportunity of conducting controlled experiments that take advantage of these characteristics of space.

The experiments recommended by the Committee fall into five major groups. Under the title "Critical-Point Thermophysical Phenomena", an initial exploratory series of experiments is recommended to find out what transpires when a fluid goes through a phase transition in low-gravity. Several specific experiments are then recommended on light scattering, on correlation length studies, on specific heat, etc. Under "Fluid Surface-Dynamics and Capillarity", experiments are recommended on static and dynamic contact angle hysteresis, on liquid configurations in containers, on the maximum amplitude of capillary waves, on standing waves in containers, on interfacial capillary waves, on droplet breakup and coalescence, on gas - and liquid-jet instabilities, on levitation, and on the spreading and production of thin films. Under "Convection at Reduced Gravity", experiments are recommended on surface-tension driven convection (effects of sidewalls, role of a free-surface, pressure and temperature variations in a heated, closed container, etc.) on thermoacoustic convection, on convection due to mechanical vibrations, electric fields, and magnetic fields, on solutal and thermosolutal convection, on convection driven by gradients in chemical potential, on coupling phenomena, and on thermally unstable flows. All of these types of convection are present on earth but are masked by the much larger gravity driven convection and thus can not be determined accurately. Furthermore, in space these may be dominant and very important. Under "Non-Heated Multiphase Mixtures", a series of experiments on aerosol mechanics, foam formation and stability, the dynamics of liquidliquid dispersion, and the dynamics of bubbles are recommended. Under "Multiphase Heat Transfer" experiments are recommended on the effect of gravity on the boiling curve, on bubble forces, on bubble microlayer formation, on the Marangoni effect on bubbles, on the effect of electric, magnetic, and acoustic fields on boiling, on forced convection boiling, on condensation in tubes, and on solidification and cooling by liquid impingement. This report is not an exhaustive catalog of experiments, but rather a set selected by the Committee which in its view warrants special attention.

The Committee has tried to assess the effects of the space laboratory on the conduct of the experiments and the degree to which non-controlled variations in gravity will affect them. Non-uniformities in the steady gravity field can be as large as  $10^{-5}$ g<sub>0</sub>. The Committee feels that this difficulty can be largely overcome by conducting experiments during the drift mode of the Space Shuttle. Time variations in the gravity field (g-jitter) caused by astronaut motions, mechanical vibrations, and vehicle control measures are potentially more serious. The Committee recommends that further research be conducted to define the g-jitter environment and to relate it to the proposed experiments.

The Committee feels rather strongly that the Principal Investigator for each experiment should take an active role in its conduct and that, ideally, he or one of his co-workers should direct the experiment in space; in any event, he should be able to receive information and give instructions while the experiment is in progress.

Finally, a series of ground-based studies are recommended to define the phenomena to be observed in some of the experiments and to develop reliable instrumentation.

### INTRODUCTION

The NASA Space Shuttle will offer scientists and engineers the opportunity to conduct controlled experiments in fluid physics, thermodynamics, and heat transfer phenomena. The space environment can be greatly beneficial for these experiments because the nearly weightless conditions in orbit, combined with a hard vacuum and a large low-temperature heat-sink, will allow parameter ranges and phenomena to be explored that would otherwise be difficult or impossible to achieve. NASA Lewis Research Center has sponsored the present independent overstudy by a committee of university and research-institute engineers and scientists to identify fundamental experiments in fluid physics, thermodynamics, and heat transfer which are scientifically meritorious, timely, and particularly well-suited for a space environment.

As the contractor for the overstudy, Southwest Research Institute was charged with forming a committee composed of a representative number of prominent scientists and engineers. A broad coverage of all the pertinent fields of study was to be obtained by selecting individuals each of whom had background in the experimental and theoretical phases of some pertinent area of the overstudy. Previous experience in space-related research, although thought to be perhaps desirable, was not considered a requirement for selection. It is clear that there are large numbers of qualified scientists who could have made valuable contributions to the study but, naturally, only a few could be asked to serve. Since the committee members were also asked to solicit suggestions from their colleagues, the degree of participation of the scientific community is certainly wider than merely the committee itself. In addition, several previous studies (refs. 1 through 6, and others) that identified some promising areas and specific experiments were to be critically reviewed, as were the results of the relatively uncontrolled experiments conducted on some of the past Mercury, Apollo, and Skylab flights.

Six academic and three industrial research scientists ultimately comprised the Committee. H. Norman Abramson, Vice President of the SwRI Division of Engineering Sciences, has extensive experience in free surface dynamics and fluid interface phenomena. Stanley W. Angrist, Professor of Mechanical Engineering, Carnegie-Mellon University, an expert in applied thermodynamics, surveyed the fields of fluid physics and heat transfer as applied to the technology of manufacturing processes. Ivan Catton, Associate Professor of Thermal Sciences, University of California at Los Angeles, a specialist in heat transfer processes, convection, and free surface fluid mechanics, examined experiments in the areas of thermally-driven tubulence, convection caused by non-gravitational field forces, and some capillary flows. Stuart W. Churchill, Carl V. S. Patterson Professor of Chemical Engineering at the University of Pennsylvania, a member of both the National Academy of

Engineering and the Universities Space Research Association on Convection and Heat Flow, and an expert in heat transfer and rate processes, examined the experiments considered in multiphase phenomena. Franklin T. Dodge, Senior Research Engineer in the SwRI Department of Mechanical Sciences, has worked extensively in fluid surface waves in low gravity and capillarity, and investigated experiments in these areas as well as experiments related to stability of flows with interfaces. Richard J. Mannheimer, Staff Scientist in the SwRIU. S. Army Engines, Fuels, and Lubricants Laboratory, who is an expert in surface chemistry, rheology, and capillarity, investigated experiments related to foams. Simon Ostrach, William J. Austin Distinguished Professor of Engineering at Case Western Reserve University and a member of the Universities Space Research Association on Convection and Heat Flow, surveyed convection experiments as well as some experiments on capillarity and contact angle phenomena. Sidney H. Schwarz, Associate Professor of Mechanical Engineering and Engineering Mechanics, West Virginia University, is an expert in boiling and multiphase heat transfer, areas in which he investigated a number of experiments. Jan V. Sengers, Professor at the Institute for Molecular Physics, University of Maryland, directed the committee's efforts in critical point thermophysical phenomena.

F. T. Dodge served as the committee chairman and was responsible for coordinating all of the committee's activities and for providing the administrative services of Southwest Research Institute as required to support these activities.

The procedures followed by the Committee were, in the main, the usual kind for a body that could meet as a whole only a few times during its existence. There were three meetings of the entire committee, comprising a total of five days. Most of the detailed work was done in the periods between the meetings. Each member was asked to prepare a list of promising experiments, not necessarily restricting himself to his particular area of expertise, and to document them in a form suitable for consideration by the other members. These experiments were critically reviewed by the Committee as a whole, and improved if necessary or even deleted in a few cases. Judgments were made concerning the relative merits of single experiments or groups of similar experiments. These activities took up most of the first two meetings. The third meeting encompassed a final review of all the experiments described in this report, and decisions of the group as a whole were made concerning the final list of recommended experiments. The impact of the environment of the space laboratory on the experiments was also discussed, and recommendations for preparatory ground-based research were made. It should be emphasized that the intent of the Committee was not to compile an exhaustive list of experiments, but to make specific recommendations of meritorious experiments.

The style of presentation of the experiments deserves some explanation. In most cases, the experiments are described only conceptually because the primary emphasis is placed on the scientific objective of the experiment and the benefits to be expected from conducting it in space. Mathematical formulations have been held to a minimum, and the figures are designed to aid the understanding of non-experts rather than to present hard data. This style, although perhaps not completely satisfying to a reader interested in the details of a given experiment, is meant to make the report appeal to a broad spectrum of scientists. It is hoped that the references cited for the experiments can supply the needed back-up scientific information.

The Committee wishes formally to acknowledge the valuable participation of the NASA technical monitor, William J. Masica, who assisted with the conduct of the study.

# DISCUSSION OF EXPERIMENTS

There are both practical and basic research reasons for conducting experiments in space on heat transfer, fluid physics, and thermodynamics. Since the laboratory is in a state of near free-fall around the earth, space experimentation has the advantage of a weightless, i.e., low-gravity, environment. This combined with a practically unlimited hard vacuum and a low-temperature heat-sink, means that many analyses and experimental correlations involving gravity as a parameter can be evaluated over a wider range than is practical on earth. It also provides a way to eliminate the perturbing effects of gravity and therefore makes it possible to study phenomena that might be suppressed on earth. A few examples will illustrate these benefits of space experimentation and introduce some of the important concepts.

On earth, studies of interfacial and capillary phenomena often must be limited to ultra-small geometric scales in order either to emphasize capillarity effects in comparison to gravity, or to diminish the possibility of gravity-induced Rayleigh-Taylor instabilities at an interface. A reducedgravity environment allows the experiments to be conducted on a much larger scale, thereby making accurate observations possible.

Gravity effects can mask other phenomena, thereby hindering their study on earth. For example, dynamic, drag, and surface tension forces on bubbles in nucleate boiling are difficult to evaluate on earth because of the large buoyancy force; in space, however, this force can be diminished to a negligible level. On earth, flows induced by buoyancy (natural convection) can cause unwanted secondary effects in many experiments. Buoyancyinduced flows are minimized in low-gravity, which is one of the reasons why much enthusiasm has been expressed for space manufacturing of metals and crystals in space. Many types of convective flows are possible, however, and some of these may become prominent when natural convection is no longer present to mask them. The principles which govern the conditions for which a non-gravity-induced convective flow is likely to occur are not known with certainty. Space experimentation can provide the basic understanding needed to define the nature and significance of these flows.

In many cases, the only feasible alternatives to testing in space are by the use of drop towers----allowing the experimental apparatus to fall freely for several seconds----or sounding rockets. Some valuable results have been otbained in this way, but the available duration of weightlessness with a drop tower is too short to study many important phenomena and, with sounding rockets, all experiments must be automated or controlled remotely. Space experimentation is, however, not without its own problems. These are discussed later in detail, but one important consideration should be mentioned now. Many of the proposed experiments require that the effective gravitational field be maintained at a known orientation and at a constant, uniform level of  $10^{-4}g_0$  to  $10^{-6}g_0$ . "Unfortunately, the Skylab experiments have shown that time-dependent, high-frequency perturbations on the order of  $10^{-3}g_0$  can be present even during a drift mode or coasting orbit. The Space Shuttle is a much more rigid structure than Skylab, and so might not be so susceptible to this "g-jitter". However, perturbations even of the magnitude of the uniform gravitational field would certainly affect or possibly spoil many of the proposed experiments.

Each of the experiments in fluid physics, thermodynamics, and heat transfer that was identified by the Committee and considered to be meritorious is discussed below. The only significance to the order of presentation is to discuss the experiments by groups in a logical sequence of no flow, flow but no heat transfer, flow and heat transfer, multiphase flow, and multiphase heat transfer. Many of the experiments are interrelated and share a commonality of experimental equipment.

# Critical Point Thermophysical Phenomena

The subject of thermophysical properties and phenomena near the critical point of fluids, as well as phase transition phenomena in fluid systems in general, appears to the Committee as the most interesting topic in thermodynamics for experimentation in a space environment. We refer here to the gas-liquid phase transition in fluids and to the phenomena of phase transition in liquid mixtures.

The importance of low-gravity experiments in the area of critical phenomena and phase transition phenomena in fluids arises from the conjunction of a number of factors.

> 1. The extent to which theories of critical phenomena in fluids can be tested experimentally on earth is limited because of the variation of the density of fluids with height caused by gravity.

 $<sup>{}^{*}</sup>g_{0}$  is the value of gravitational acceleration at the earth's surface.

- 2. The universality of critical phenomena implies that low-gravity experiments with fluids will contribute to an understanding of the behavior of many kinds of physical systems other than the fluids actually studied.
- 3. When a fluid undergoes a transition from one phase to two, gravitationally driven sedimentation is the dominant mechanism for the spatial separation of the two phases.
- 4. The information obtained from such experiments will relate to recent theoretical and experimental work involving a significant portion of the scientific community.

When fluid systems proceed through a phase transition on earth, gravity causes the phases to separate into two distinct regions. In a gravityfree environment, the dominating forces will be interfacial and capillary, and the dynamics of the phase transition process will be very different. Futhermore, near the critical point, fluids exhibit an anomalously large response to gravity. As a result, experiments near the gas-liquid critical point on earth are severly affected by inhomogeneities of the fluid sample resulting from the height of the sample.

The past decade has brought a renaissance of the study of critical phenomena. A large number of scientists are currently actively involved in the subject and further advances are assured. It seems most probable that the activities and progress will extend into the subject of first order phase transitions as well. Thus the space experiments will be conducted at a time of unprecedented interest and expertise in phase transitions. Experiments in a space laboratory on the subject of phase transitions and critical phenomena are likely to enhance this progress further.

#### Exploratory Experiments

As a first step the Committee recommends that exploratory experiments be conducted simply to find out occurs when a fluid goes through a phase transition at low-gravity. In particular two experiments are recommended, one concerning the gas-liquid phase transition and one concerning the phase separation in a binary liquid mixture.

In their most elementary form these experiments can be described as follows.

Take a set of samples of a one-component fluid with different densities. Included should be a sample at subcritical density, a sample at the critical density and a sample at supercritical density. Let the temperature vary either continuously or discontinuously through the transition temperature and take photographs at regular temperature intervals. Compare these photographs with those obtained at earth under the same instrumental conditions. Conduct similar experiments for a set of samples of a binary mixture at concentrations smaller than, equal to and larger than the critical concentration.

An experiment definition study should be made to decide which systems should be selected and at which densities and concentrations.

On earth a meniscus will appear at the bottom, somewhere in the center, or at the top of the cell, depending on the density or concentration. In space the true equilibrium state at densities sufficiently away from the critical density is probably that of one large spherical liquid droplet located somewhere in the vapor, if we ignore the effect of the walls. However, it seems plausible that in practice a multiplicity of domains of the liquid phase may be formed. It would be of interest to observe the size distribution of these domains both as a function of the rate of change of the temperature and at a given temperature as a function of time. Near the critical point, the thermodynamic fluctuations become very large and the domain size distribution could become stationary. The domain structure is likely to be affected by the presence of the walls. Therefore, it may also be of interest to conduct these experiments with samples of different geometry, but with the same density or concentration.

The experiments are likely to enhance progress in nucleation theory. When the phase transition takes place on earth, the influence of gravity upon the process is overwhelming. As the temperature of a fluid or a fluid mixture is changed to bring it into a thermodynamic state in which phase separation is thermodynamically favored (whether near or far from the critical point) inhomogeneous nucleation will usually occur. Since the phases are almost invariably of different densities, the earth's gravitational field will cause relative motion of the two phases. In a very short time the effects of the nucleation are felt throughout a macroscopic sample because the growth of the separate phases is aided by gravitational sedimentation of the phases into layers of differing density. The importance of gravity in this process is dramatically illustrated in attempting to reverse the process by restoring the temperature of the fluid to its former value. It may take 100 times as long for the fluid to become homogeneous as it did for it to separate into distinct phases. In a high-g environment, surface and diffusive phenomena are dominant only in the early stages and on small size scales of phase separation.

In a low-g environment, the rate of sedimentation will be greatly reduced and the important roles of surface and diffusive phenomena will become much more visible. One may expect domains of the separating phases to grow slowly. The effects of inhomogeneous nucleation will not be propagated as rapidly, thus permitting homogeneous nucleation to be more readily observed. The phenomenon of spinodal decomposition, recently observed in a binary liquid mixture (ref. 7) may become more readily accessible and could perhaps be also observed in a pure fluid. For these and other purposes it may be advisable to include some other optical observations such as light scattering. In the case of a binary mixture one may also look into the possibility of using a mixture whose two phases have a different color.

The equipment needed for these experiments could also be used for some of the fluid mechanics experiments described else where in this report.

Exploratory experiments of the type described in this section are strongly recommended for the following reasons: the experiments can be readily conducted using existing technology and instrumentation; the same instrumentation can be used for a variety of other experiments; the experiments would seem to guarantee some results which may even be spectacular; the experiments are conducted at a time of considerable scientific activity and progress in the subject; the theoretical expertise for interpreting these experiments is available; and the results will serve as a guide for more sophisticated subsequent experiments.

#### Specific Experiments Near the Gas-Liquid Critical Point

In the vicinity of the critical point many thermodynamic and transport properties of a fluid exhibit anomalous behavior. Some of these anomalies, such as those in the compressibility and the thermal conductivity, are strong and are noticed over a large range of temperatures and densities around the critical point. Other anomalies, such as those in the specific heat  $C_v$  and the shear viscosity, are weak and can only be observed close to the critical point. The critical behavior is associated with the presence of density fluctuations that extend over a correlation length 5 which diverges as  $(\Delta T^*)^{2/3} = \{ (T-T_c)/T_c \}^{-2/3}$ , where  $T_c$  is the critical temperature. At a temperature  $\Delta T^* \approx 10^{-6}$  this correlation length is somewhere between 1000 Å and 10,000 Å.

Since the compressibility is strongly divergent, gravity produces a large density gradient in a fluid near the critical point. On earth, any given fluid sample at equilibrium near the critical point is stratified according to density as illustrated in figure 1. Near the critical temperature the density can readily vary by as much as 5% over a height of only 1 mm (ref. 8). Hence, only a vanishingly small portion of a macroscopic sample can be very near the critical density itself. Furthermore, because of the inhomogeneity in density produced by gravity, the correlation length on earth can not in practice exceed approximately  $10^{-4}$  cm in the vertical direction.

The Space Shuttle provides the unique possibility of conducting measurements near the critical point on fluid samples that are essentially homogeneous. Such experiments are therefore guaranteed to produce valuable information independently of the direction in which our theoretical understanding may advance. The potential benefits of experiments on critical phenomena in space are twofold: (1) a number of anomalies which are only barely observable on earth can be studied accurately; and (2) the static and dynamic behavior of fluid systems in which the correlation length is no longer small compared to the size of the experimental probe can be studied accurately. The fundamental variable governing the behavior of a system near the critical point is the correlation length. Since this correlation length is large compared to the range of the intermolecular forces, the behavior becomes independent of the details of the interaction and has a universal character. Therefore, accurate experiments in space on one suitably chosen system should yield insight concerning the behavior of all other fluids near the critical point.





Below a number of specific experiments are listed whose relevance is already apparent. The Committee does not claim that this list is complete. Moreover, in view of the rapid development of the subject, it is to be anticipated that additional experiments will recommend themselves in the near future. In each experiment it is recommended that the data be taken as a function of temperature for a sample at the critical density. Information as a function of density is also desirable, but is less urgent and could be considered subsequently.

Specific heat.- The heat capacity  $C_v$  diverges as  $C_v \ll |\Delta T^*|^{-\alpha}$ , where as probably greater than zero, but smaller than 0.15. The subtle divergence of the specific heat at constant volume is fundamentally connected with the nonanalytic character of the equation of state at the critical point. An accurate determination of the anomaly in C<sub>v</sub>, has turned out to be very difficult as a result of the density gradient introduced by gravity. When the sample temperature is changed, matter has to be redistributed to establish a new density profile; this process gives rise to latent-heat contributions (ref. 9 and 10). Thus the experimental specific-heat versus temperature relation is severly distorted at all temperatures where density gradients are present. An experiment in near-zero gravity would avoid these complications and could yield definitive information on the behavior of the specific heat and the value of the exponent  $\alpha$ . An adiabatic calorimeter with stepwise or continuous heating techniques would seem most suitable for the purpose. The technology for conducting calorimetric measurements at  $\Delta T^* \approx 10^{-6}$  is available and similar experiments have been done in helium near the  $\lambda$ -line (ref 11 and 12). However, they have not been applied with the same precision near the gasliquid critical point since the gravity-induced gradients did not justify the effort.

Light scattering. - A wealth of information can be obtained by measuring the statistical distribution of photons scattered through the fluid at various angles. Such measurements yield the density-density correlation function as a function of wavelength and time. Suitable quantum electronic detection techniques have been developed in recent years. The intensity of the scattered light as a function of the scattering angle yields the correlation length, which is the variable needed to interpret all other experiments. By varying the position of the laser beam one can check whether the sample is indeed homogeneous.

At temperatures somewhat away from the critical temperature, the time variation of the density fluctuations can be described by the macroscopic hydrodynamic equations. Here, the spectrum of the scattered light yields the thermal diffusity. When the critical temperature is approached more closely, a nonlocal description of the dynamics is required. The decay of the fluctuations is also expected to deviate from simple exponential behavior. Two attempts have been proposed to describe these phenomena which yield similar results away from the critical point but different predictions in the immediate vicinity of the critical point (ref. 13). These theories are likely to be refined in the near future, but in earth-bound experiments near the gas-liquid critical point, it is difficult to discriminate between them because of experimental errors caused by gravity (ref. 14). In the subsequent stage it may be possible to approach  $\Delta T^*$  values of 10<sup>-9</sup>; then one could possibly probe the static and dynamic behavior of samples whose correlation length is of the order of the size of the laser beam itself. Under similar instrumental conditions on earth the density would vary appreciably over the size of the laser beam.

<u>Dielectric constant and refractive index.</u> - There exists both theoretical and experimental evidence that the refractive index exhibits an anomalous behavior near the critical point (refs. 15 and 16). Experiments indicate that the anomaly is of the order of  $5 \times 10^{-4}$  at  $\Delta T^* \approx 10^{-6}$  (ref. 17), but theory and experiment are not in good agreement. The experimentally observed anomaly is again severely affected by gravity effects, and it is extremely difficult to investigate the phenomenon in any quantitative detail on earth. In space the refractive index could be measured by determining the phase shift of the transmitted light relative to the incident light beam. Therefore, such experiments could possibly be combined with the light-scattering experiments mentioned earlier.

The anomaly is also likely to show up in the dielectric constant. Anomalous behavior of the dielectric constant can be investigated using a stack of capacitors (ref. 18). This experiment is interesting because it cannot be done on earth (because of the density gradient between the plates) and one has a built-in check to verify that the sample is homogenous by comparing the dielectric constant as measured by the different capacitors. This experiment is also of fundamental interest, since measuring the local dielectric constant or refractive index is often used as an experimental method to determine the local density in a fluid near the critical point.

The dielectric constant should be determined with a precision of at least  $1:10^5$ . However, as in most other involving critical phenomena, relative precision is sufficient and absolute accuracy is not required.

<u>Velocity of sound.</u> - The possibility of measurements of the sound velocity should also be considered. Suitable techniques for measuring the sound velocity near the critical point are available (ref. 19 and 20). Again the experiments on earth are subject to gravity corrections (ref. 9). In the zero-frequency limit the sound velocity should vanish as  $C_v^{-1/2}$ . Therefore, low-frequency sound velocity measurements provide an alternative method of determining the exponent  $\alpha$ .

Measurements of the velocity dispersion and the attenuation of sound provide information concerning the critical dynamic behavior at wavelengths and frequencies different from those probed by light-scattering techniques.

<u>Diameter of the coexistence curve.</u> - The law of the rectilinear diameter states that the sum  $\rho_{\ell} + \rho_{v}$  of the densities of the coexisting liquid and vapor phases varies linearly with  $\Delta T^*$ . However, modern thermodynamic characterization of the critical point inescapably implies that the law of the rectilinear diameter cannot be strictly correct and that the diameter  $\rho_{\ell} + \rho_{v}$ should vary asymptotically as  $|\Delta T^*|^{1-\alpha}$ . Most attempts at measuring this anomalous behavior of the diameter have been unsuccessful. The anomaly is small and will only show up in a region where gravity effects are important (ref. 21). Thus the anomalous behavior of the diameter could be another phenomenon which might be characterized by experiments in a space laboratory.

The procedure for measuring the coexisting densities will probably be very much influenced by the results of the previously recommended exploratory experiments.

<u>Viscosity.</u> - There exists strong evidence that the shear viscosity also shows an anomalous behavior near the critical point (ref. 22), although the anomaly is a weak one and connot be measured very accurately on earth. The capillary-flow method is unsuitable for measuring viscosity near the critical point, and the recommended method is measuring the damping of an oscillating or rotating cylinder. On earth the precision is limited by the density variation in the sample along the cylinder, but these limitations disappear at low gravity. These measurements could resolve some theoretical controversies whether the viscosity remains finite or is truly divergent.

<u>Thermal conductivity.</u> - The thermal conductivity is strongly divergent and appears to increase approximately in proportion to the correlation length  $\xi$  (ref. 22). However, since both the thermal expansion coefficient and the specific heat at constant pressure diverge even more strongly, namely approximately as  $\xi^2$ , all conventional thermal conductivity measurements on earth are affected by free convection when the critical point is approached (ref. 23).

Among the available techniques for measuring the thermal conductivity, the transient hot wire technique is the most suitable for use in space. This method is faster than the stationary method, it can be readily digitalized, and the experiment possibly could be combined with the fluid mechanics experiments concerned with convection around a heated wire. The precision of the transient hot wire technique has recently been improved considerably (ref. 24). The method has the disadvantage that is does not measure the thermal conductivity directly but the thermal diffusivity instead. The information to be obtained is therefore somewhat similar to that obtained from line-width measurements of the Rayleigh line in the spectrum of scattered light. Nevertheless, these separate thermal diffusivity measurements are of interest, because the method is capable of yielding thermal diffusivity values with a higher precision and over a larger range of temperature. Furthermore, it yields the thermal diffusivity at a macroscopic wavelength of the order of the size of the probe. Thus the method will yield information different from that provided by light scattering, when the correlation length is not small compared to the wavelength of light.

#### Experiments Near the Critical Mixing Point of a Binary Liquid

As was mentioned earlier, it is equally interesting to study the dynamics of phase separation in binary liquid mixtures at low-gravity. In the earth's gravitational field, the effects of nucleation are felt throughout a macroscopic sample in a very short time, since the growth of the separate phases is aided by sedimentation of the phases into layers of different density. In low-gravity, the rate of sedimentation will be greatly reduced and the roles of surface and diffusive phenomena will become dominant. Experiments in the metastable states may also become more readily accessible. Binary and multicomponent systems also offer the possibility of studying a much larger variety of phase separation and critical phenomena than those occurring in onecomponent fluids (ref. 25). For instance, it would be intriguing to study liquidliquid-vapor equilibrium under gravity-free conditions.

Near the critical mixing point the issues are in principle similar to those concerning the behavior of fluids near the gas-liquid critical point. That is, the behavior of the system is again associated with a diverging correlation length. In a gravitational field the true equilibrium state is accompanied by concentration and density gradients (refs.26 and 27). The existence of gravity effects near the critical mixing point has been demonstrated experimentally in a high gravitational field (ref. 28). There exists, however, some uncertainty as to the time scales in which thermodynamic equilibrium is reached. The formation of concentration gradients is the result of diffusion and sedimentation, and the rate of diffusion becomes vanishingly small near the critical point, while the rate of sedimentation increases because of the divergence of the corresponding Onsager phenomenological coefficient.

Experiments studying phenomena near the critical mixing point of liquid mixtures in space are likely to be uniquely valuable. Even if gradients are not formed within the time rate of most earth-bound experiments, the fact remains that these experiments refer, in principle, to

nonequilibrium states. On the other hand, in space we may be able to prepare states which are at equilibrium and at the same time homogeneous. More exploratory research would be needed to establish the feasibility of preparing a homogeneous sample near the critical mixing point. In view of the long equilibration times, it must be done by first preparing a homogeneous sample slightly away from the critical point and then approaching the critical point by changing the temperature in a uniform manner. The question of relaxation to equilibrium in binary mixtures is currently under active investigation and more insight may be expected in the near future.

If exploratory studies indicate that homogeneous equilibrium samples can be prepared at low gravity, then most of the experiments mentioned for the gas-liquid critical point are also recommended for fluid mixtures near the critical mixing point. In addition, some other experiments should be considered, such as measuring the thermal expansion coefficient, which is expected to diverge with the exponent  $\alpha$ . The subject is of sufficient interest that further preparatory studies are desirable.

### General Experimental Requirements

Critical phenomena experiments of the type described require a temperature regulation and stability with a precision between  $1:10^6$  and  $1:10^7$ . Temperature stability of this precision is now commonly realized on earth in experiments near the critical point. Additional new phenomena will be observed if the temperature can be regulated at  $1:10^8$  or  $1:10^9$ . Critical phenomena experiments with a temperature resolution at the  $1:10^8$  level are currently being successfully conducted on earth by a few investigators.

The duration of the experiments will be determined by the time needed to reach equilibrium. The equilibration time is proportional to the correlation length, and, hence, increases when the critical point is approached. The equilibration time is determined by diffusion and thermal diffusivity (ref. 8) as well as the distances to the thermal walls and the geometry of the apparatus. From experience with earth-bound experiments, we may estimate that the equilibration time for experiments near the gas-liquid critical point will be of the order of several hours. For experiments near the critical mixing point of liquid mixtures the equilibration time poses a problem which needs to be studied in more detail as discussed earlier.

Because of these special requirements the critical phenomena experiments are recommended as second generation experiments. However, it might be desirable that some of the exploratory experiments suggested earlier be conducted so as to obtain valuable information for designing these second generation experiments.

### Fluid-Surface Dynamics and Capillarity

Many interesting phenomena occur at the interface between two fluids. Earth-based studies of interface phenomena are often limited to small geometric scales to increase the influence of interfacial forces and to minimize Rayleigh-Taylor instabilities. Larger geometric scales can be obtained by using two immiscible liquids that have almost identical densities, but, if the objective is to study the dynamics of a liquid-gas interface, this simulation method distorts inertial effects severely. Drop-tower testing gives an accurate low-gravity simulation, but test-durations are very short and all observations must be made remotely or photographically. The Space Shuttle provides an opportunity to observe interface phenomena accurately and, thus, to resolve many of the controversies and inadequacies of our understanding by permitting larger-scale experiments without instabilities caused by gravity. Alternatively, the instabilities themselves can be studied on a much slower time scale. For these reasons, many Mercury, Apollo, and Skylab flights have included experiments on interface dynamics.

#### Dynamics of Fluid Interfaces

On earth fluid interfaces tend to be dominated by gravitational field forces, whereas in a low-gravity environment surface tension and contact angle effects can be dominant. Therefore, whole classes of interface and capillarity phenomena become accessible to observation in space. The experiments described in this section are considered by the Committee to be among the more important of the many that would benefit by being conducted in space.

Static and Dynamic Contact Angle Hysteresis. - There are many fluid surface problems for which a fluid-fluid interface--commonly a liquid and a gas, or a liquid and its vapor--meets either a solid surface or the surface of a third fluid. The line of intersection is called the "three-phase line," or as the "contact line" for the special case of a liquid-solid-gas intersection, and the angles formed by the intersection are called the "contact angles, "  $\theta$ . Unfortunately, the contact angle is not always a uniquely defined property of the three components. For example, when a liquid droplet is placed on an inclined solid surface it is observed that as the inclination is increased the droplet deforms and the contact angle changes; eventually the droplet begins to move after the inclination exceeds some critical value. The first published study, apparently, of the resistance of a droplet to movement is ref. 29. Several studies have been reported subsequently. The study reported in ref. 29 involved a liquid droplet in an air-filled capillary tube across which a pressure differential was applied, as shown in figure 2a. It was observed that (1) the droplet could withstand an appreciable pressure differential before



(a) Static contact angle hysteresis



(b) Dynamic contact angle hysteresis

Figure 2. Types of contact angle hysteresis

moving and (2) the static contact angle exhibited hysteresis. Possible causes of the observed hysteresis include roughness and heterogeneity of the solid surface, the presence of contaminants, the absorption of a molecular film on the solid surface, and the penetration of the solid surface by liquid molecules. To date, no definitive explanation of this phenomenon exists.

As a further example of contact angle phenomena, when a threephase line moves slowly over a solid surface it appears as though the interface is sliding, but such an observation is at odds with the fact that a viscous liquid cannot slide over a solid surface. Differences of opinion have arisen, consequently, as to whether a droplet slides or rolls over a solid surface. Adding more confusion to the characterization of the contact angle is the observation that the contact angle generally depends on the velocity of the three-phase line, as is illustrated in figure 2b; this is called dynamic contact angle hysteresis. Although the contact angle is a fundamental variable in the thermodynamic treatment of all capillary systems, an adequate hydrodynamic explanation of dynamic contact angle hysteresis is lacking. The work of ref. 30 is the most advanced but still indicates the need for more detailed observations of the phenomena. Since the contact angle plays such an important role in many fluids problems, its nature and character must be understood. The physical processes occurring at the three-phase line have not yet been unequivocably described. Experiments conducted previously were limited to capillary tubes to reduce gravitational effects, and thus, since the geometric scale was small, observations in the region of interest near the wall were almost impossible and therefore not definitive. The reduced gravity of space provides the opportunity to resolve many of the existing problems by careful, large scale experiments with a much diminished influence of Rayleigh-Taylor instabilities.

To study the static contact angle, drops of different liquids should be examined on various types of solid surfaces to determine the influence of surface roughness, porosity, cleanliness, etc., on the contact angle. To study the nature of static and dynamic contact angle hysteresis, a slug of liquid of varying physical characteristics in an air- or vapor-filled tube should be subjected to an axial pressure gradient, first to observe the resistance of the liquid to motion and then to cause flow. The tube should be large enough to permit detailed and accurate observation to be made of both the advancing and receding contact angles. Particular attention should be given to the fluid film deposited and adsorbed on the surface during motion. This is a crucial aspect of the current theories. Subsequent tests should be made with curved surfaces as well as flat ones.

Liquid Configurations Under Reduced Gravity. - Storage of liquids is another example of a problem which is gravity-dominated on earth and capillary-dominated in low-gravity. It is, further, of great practical interest in the design of spacecraft tankage. In a gravity-dominated environment the position of the liquid in the storage vessel is well defined, but the influence of surface tension, contact angle, and body forces can lead to some unexpected configurations in the capillary-dominated regime. For certain kinds of vessel geometries, typically two plane vertical walls intersecting at an angle  $\alpha$  such that  $2\theta + 2\alpha < \pi$ , where  $\theta$  is the contact angle, the theory predicts that an equilibrium free-surface is not possible; that is, the surface deforms continually (refs. 31 and 32). Free-surface shapes in non-axisymmetric tanks, such as a toroid tilted with respect to the g-vector, can be very convoluted in reduced gravity and almost impossible to predict theoretically. Earth-based tests generally are either on a scale too small to enable accurate observations to be made or of a duration that is too short to eliminate transients when drop-towers are used. Therefore the actual low-gravity environment of space would be very useful in studying equilibrium freesurface shapes.

Further, even when the most stable equilibrium position is known, the position or configuration of the liquid is uncertain during times when the net acceleration vector is changing in magnitude or direction. The transient time required to obtain a new equilibrium position after such a change in the effective gravity level can at present be only roughly approximated. These transient times are long because the surface tension driving force is small. Several oscillations or a disintegration of the surface can occur before all transients damp out.

A series of experiments is proposed to investigate the influence of the various physical and geometrical parameters on the equilibrium configuration, the nature of intermediate configurations after the fluid is disturbed, and the transient time to reach an equilibrium configuration. These experiments could be done on a modest geometric scale and would require a series of small containers of different shapes and made from different materials (to vary the wetability). Various fluids with different viscosities, surface tensions, densities and the like would then partially fill the containers. The experiments could be performed either during a constant-g coasting phase of a flight to determine equilibrium shapes, or during an acceleration phase of orbital flight to study transients and flow. Possibly a variable-speed centrifuge could be used to obtain various rates of change of g, if Coriolis forces can be shown to be negligible.

<u>Surface Interface Waves in Low Gravity.</u> - The theory of surface and interface waves has been a fruitful area of study for hydrodynamicists, and a reduced-gravity environment offers the possibility of quantitatively observing these waves when they are dominated by capillarity. Several practical reasons exist, also, for studying low-gravity surface-waves, such as spacecraft control and design of fluid transfer systems for space application.

The surface waves of interest are (1) standing and traveling waves on an unbounded surface and (2) standing waves in a container, where the boundary conditions largely determine the wave characteristics.

Linear or small-amplitude capillary waves on an unbounded surface are well understood. The advantage of a low-gravity environment lies in studying large-amplitude capillary waves, because the much reduced gravity force allows the wave length, i.e., the wave size, to be made large, thus making quantitative observations possible. In particular, the traveling and standing low-gravity waves with the maximum possible amplitude are of particular interest in hydrodynamics. When gravity forces are paramount, the maximum possible amplitude occurs just as the downward acceleration of the wave crest equals one  $g_0$ : in other words, the liquid cannot withstand tension. For these conditions, Stokes showed in 1880 that a traveling wave with the maximum possible amplitude had a pointed crest enclosing an angle of 120°, and Penney and Price showed in 1952 that the maximum amplitude periodic standing wave had a pointed crest enclosing an angle of 90°. When gravity forces are much reduced or absent, the liquid at the crest of the capillary wave will be in tension when the downward acceleration requires a force greater than that available from surface tension, so this determines the maximum amplitude wave. No theory for these waves, either traveling or standing, exists at present. The renewed interest in capillary waves evident during recent years will, however, ultimately result in theories being developed, and experimental data to guide the theory or to confirm it will be necessary.

These experiments on standing waves on unbounded liquid surfaces might be conducted by using a rectangular tank with a large length-to-width ratio (i.e., an essentially two-dimensional tank). The two vertical walls at the ends of the tank should be capable of mirror-image rocking motions to create a symmetrical wave, similar to the apparatus described in ref. 33. The liquid should have a  $90^{\circ}$  contact angle on the container wall to eliminate static curvature effects, and the contact angle should not exhibit any hysteresis. Perhaps the method of coating the walls to obtain a  $90^{\circ}$  contact angle that is described in ref. 34 can be used. A similar tank with one movable wall and a wave absorber at the other end might be used to study traveling waves. It would obviously be beneficial to conduct preliminary studies to help define the feasibility of this experiment.

Standing waves in a container, as contrasted to waves on an unbounded surface, are strongly dependent upon the boundaries when the wave length is of the order of the container size; these "fundamental" wave modes are of much concern in spacecraft stability studies. In low-gravity, surface tension and the effects of the boundary caused by static contact angle, contact angle hysteresis, and the tank shape determine the characteristics of the fundamental wave modes. The present analytical formulation (ref. 35) of the compatibility requirement relating the wave amplitude at the wall to the free-surface curvature, the container-wall curvature, and the contact angle is as yet open to question. Further analytical difficulties arise because of contact angle hysteresis. For example, the work reported in ref. 36 showed a 15 percent upward shift in natural frequency when water was used as a test liquid in a tank 2.65 cm in. diameter as compared to methanol or carbon tetrachloride for similar values of the other governing parameters. The water appeared not to "slide" freely along the tank walls. This implies that experiments should employ a wide range of fluids and tank materials in order to vary the wetability, to evaluate the influence of contact angle hysteresis, and in particular to study the motion of the surface at the contact line. The experimental apparatus could be a modification of that used in the transient liquid-configuration tests.

Interfacial waves between two superposed liquids and the associated forms of Rayleigh-Taylor instability should also be studied in low-gravity. When body forces are large, interfacial tension helps to stabilize the interface between two liquids. In a low-gravity environment, however, surface tension may promote instability because the minimum total-energy configuration of each liquid can be a sphere, if this is a possible configuration considering other restraints on the liquid. It is likely that a liquid layer in low-gravity is stable for small-amplitude interfacial waves whereas for some combinations of surface tension and liquid-layer thickness, large disturbances might cause the liquid to break up into one or more spherical droplets, whenever this is the true minimum-energy configuration. Other forms of instability will be present as well. Experiments to study these effects could consist of several closed tanks partially or completely filled with two immiscible liquids. One liquid should occupy substantially less volume than the other in order to emphasize the droplet break-up instability, and the dimensions of the containers should be at least an order of magnitude greater than this liquid layer thickness to minimize edge effects.

#### Capillarity

A number of experiments on fluid mechanics which are controlled by capillary forces are recommended by the Committee.

<u>Droplet Formation, Breakup, and Coalescence.</u> - The formation of droplets, and their breakup or coalescence when exposed to various kinds of external fields, is important in many varied applications. Uniform spherical capsules are formed by the disintegration of a liquid jet (ref. 37). Atomization of gasoline by acoustic fields is used to improve combustion and decrease emissions of gasoline engines. Wet scrubbers for removal of contaminants from gases use atomization to increase the surface area of the scrubbing liquid. The breakup and coalescence of droplets control important phenomena in cloud physics. All of these applications have in common a need to understand and control the dynamics of droplets. Low-gravity will allow much better control of experiments designed to obtain knowledge about the fundamental mechanics of these droplet phenomena.

The nature of the interaction between droplets depends on the sizes of the drops, their velocities, angular momenta, surface electronic charge, and the kinds of external fields to which they are exposed. Electrically-neutral droplets breaking up in an electric, acoustic, or thermal field can produce multiple, charged drops. Acquiring data on droplet breakup and coalescence is difficult on earth because gravity makes detailed observations about these processes almost impossible. In low gravity, studies of the relative importance of such variables as surface tension and viscosity would be greatly simplified. A wider range of forces and conditions could be applied without the constraints of a wind tunnel or of mechanical supports; droplet energies could be controlled more readily; and the prolonged test times available when there is no gravity-induced velocity will permit detailed observations of the droplet surface before, during, and after applying an external field, or the collision mechanics of a multi-droplet experiment. Correlations of numbers and characteristics of generated droplets with field strength and frequency would become possible.

A 0.1 m<sup>3</sup> chamber with controllable temperature, pressure, and gas composition would be adequate for these experiments on the effect of external fields on atomization. A drop, or group of drops, would be projected into the chamber, and the acoustic or electric field applied. Droplet velocities, distributions, and positions after atomization would be the primary observables. Strobe photography and holographic techniques would provide ideal visualization of the surface motions. Surface active agents and several different liquids should be used.

Another intriguing droplet experiment would be to measure--for the first time--the statistical-fluctuation dipole moment of a spherical droplet (ref. 38). It should be possible, in principle, to observe two small droplets accelerate slowly toward each other, thereby deducing the distance-force relationship, which according to theory should vary as the inverse sixth power of the relative separation. The obvious advantage of a low-gravity experiment is that the extremely small relative accelerations can be observed just by waiting long enough. Droplet charges might be thought to interfere with this experiment; however, they would produce accelerations with a different dependence on relative separation. Furthermore, the charges could always be measured by applying an electric field and their effects subtracted.

A droplet production experiment would be useful to earth-bound metallurgists. Utilizing the space environment, a Rayleigh particle-generator (a vibrated liquid-jet nozzle) could be used to produce non-oxidized spherical metal particles of uniform size. The experimental set-up would consist of an apparatus which would allow various size droplets to be produced at will by using a heavy-duty loudspeaker as a signal generator to control the disintegration. Various nozzles and an arrangement for collection of the drops produced would also be needed.

<u>Stability of Liquid and Gas Jets.</u> - Gas jets in a liquid and liquid jets in another liquid or gas, which find use in many liquid systems, are known to be unstable and to disintegrate readily. Jet dynamics continues to be studied as a form of hydrodynamic instability, and several applications, such as droplet or capsule formation, are apparent. The instability mechanism for liquid jets originally proposed by Rayleigh is purely temporal; that is, the

amplitude of the surface wave grows only with time at a given downstream location. Recently it has been shown that a temporal instability can not be applicable to a jet and that the true mechanism is that the growth of the amplitude of the perturbation depends only on the distance downstream of the jet exit nozzle (ref. 39). According to this theory, the mode corresponding to the Rayleigh instability is not the most rapidly growing. On the other hand, experiments (ref. 37) seem to indicate that the droplet sizes formed by the breakup are in fact related to the wavelength of the Rayleigh mode. Uniform spherical droplets can be formed by vibrating the jet nozzle at a frequency that gives a disturbance with a wavelength of about 4.5 times the jet diameter (the Rayleigh-mode wavelength) and this is the most stable operating condition (ref. 40). Satisfactory operation is obtained with longer wavelengths (up to ten diameters) but shorter wavelengths result in randomly sized droplets and erratic behavior.

Several experiments on liquid- and gas-jet instabilities are proposed. The mechanics of the instabilities are difficult to establish by ground-based experiments because of the effect of gravity in perturbing the trajectory and the circular cross-section of the jet and in limiting the scale and the types of experiments that can be used.

The length of a liquid jet before it disintegrates into droplets is determined primarily by stability criteria, whereas the length of a gas jet is determined both by stability and by the momentum of the jet that is available for penetration of the surrounding liquid. In normal gravity, it has been found that for gas jets gravity effects generally cause an instability in which the surrounding liquid pinches off the jet into discrete bubbles. In low-gravity, however, the instability of the jet and the initial momentum both play a role in determining if bubbles are pinched off or if a single cavity of fixed size is formed (ref. 34). As mentioned previously, the basic criteria for instability of a liquid-jet are still uncertain, so low-gravity experiments with their enhanced capillarity and increased geometric scale will be definite asset. It is almost mandatory to study gas-jet instabilities in low-gravity.

The proposed liquid-jet experiment would use circular nozzles of different diameters to eject various liquids into vacuum. These tests, which have some commonality with the droplet production and droplet coalescence studies, should be run through a wide range of velocities to determine the basic mechanisms of instability. The gas-jet experiments will be somewhat more difficult to conduct. The liquid into which the gas is injected should not have a free surface, in order that surface waves will not influence the jet instability; on the other hand, the liquid obviously must be free to expand, so that a free surface seems necessary. This conflict can be resolved by injecting the gas considerably below the free surface. Various values of liquidgas interfacial tension should be used, and the momentum, diameter, velocity, and density of the gas stream should be varied as well. Ground based studies to acquire fundamental understanding of jet instabilities would be bene-ficial.

<u>Thin films</u>. - As mentioned earlier, many interesting events take place at the surfaces of substances. Surfaces are invariably interfaces; that is, at every surface two material systems, are always in contact and interacting. Matter in its three states forms five interfaces: solid-solid, solid-liquid, solidgas, liquid-liquid and liquid-gas. At almost all interfaces the interaction between the systems is mediated by thin films. For this reason thin films fully warrant the careful attention that has made investigation of them an important discipline of physics and chemistry.

The low-g environment of a space laboratory will maximize the effect of surface tension forces while the vacuum will facilitate control over undesirable oxides. These conditions might result in greatly improved smoothness on thin film surfaces produced in space, which would surely be of importance to various technologies. Furthermore, in order to carry out tests of the strong coupling theory of super-conductivity one needs to produce clean, evaporative, thin films of reactive metals, and space should be able to provide the conditions needed to produce such films. A thin film production process might also be useful in fabricating thin sections of steel for use in making transmission electron micrographs, which have proved to be extremely useful in metallurgical research. At present, rolling methods can fabricate sheets of steel having a thickness of about 0.003 inches. In general, the development of simple thin film production techniques, in particular metallic films, would have great significance in the field of electronics.

One method of thin film production which should be investigated is bubble casting. In this technique a molten material is blown into a mold to form hollow, thin-walled containers, a process which is made feasible because of the surface tension of the molten material. The space environment should enhance the surface tension effect and reduce contaminants to a minimum. The proposed experiment on bubble casting will require a crucible and a heat source of several kilowatts. One or more nozzles will also be needed to form the bubble from the molten metal. A method of delivering the metal to the nozzle under slight pressure will be required to produce the bubble at the nozzle tip. The bubbles should be blown in a closed container that can be vented to space. The container should be equipped with a viewing port.

Another experiment related to thin films is the phenomenon of a liquid film spreading on the surface of another liquid or solid. This spreading can be observed more readily in low-gravity for two reasons: the velocity during that phase of the spreading which is dominated by body forces is much reduced thus allowing more time for study, and the films that can be used are much thicker and therefore easier to instrument. The motivation for these studies encompasses such varied applications as the spreading of a weld pool on a metal surface, the spreading of an oil slick on calm water, and the diffusive spreading of liquid atoms in a metal surface (refs. 41 and 42).

The spreading of liquids could be studied by releasing known quantities of liquid on the surface of a solid or of another liquid. The test containers might be mounted in a slowly rotating centrifuge to produce a controllable low-g acceleration perpendicular to the surface. Instrumentation to measure the velocity profiles in the liquid would be valuable in clarifying the existing discrepancies in liquid spread theories (ref. 43). The film thickness, pool diameter, and leading-edge velocity as a function of time should also be measured.

#### Effects of Levitation

Various schemes have been proposed to levitate liquid masses away from container walls in a reduced-gravity environment. These include light pressure, strong acoustic fields, and electromagnetic body forces produced by inductors supplied from a source of high-frequency current. Levitation in low-g would be a potentially useful process for producing ultra-pure materials in the hard vacuum of space because it would provide experimenters with a wall-less crucible. The Committee has given some thought to these applications and other experiments that might benefit from low-g levitation.

During containerless solidification of pure materials one might expect cavities to be formed in the interior because of solidification shrinkage and lack of feeding. Surface solidification and the subsequent cooling leads to a contraction which is compensated for by plastic deformation. As deformation ends, a cavity forms at the liquid-solid interface. Perhaps this process could be studied initially on earth by stressing the interface during solidification. Cavity-forming activity would certainly inhibit the formation of perfect metallic spheres--a task frequently thought to be easy to carry out in space.

A number of experiments can be proposed that would take advantage of the wall-less crucible and hard-vacuum environment of space. One of the simplest is the study of the solidification of a freely floating sphere consisting of a single-phase alloy. This kind of experiment would take advantage of

the purification due to the hard vacuum and the absence of a container, and the low convection currents within the melt during solidification. The combined effect of these factors on structure, microsegregation and macrosegregation could be determined. Some suggestions have been made that these experiments be extended to include materials which become amorphous upon freezing. A similar experiment could be conducted on dispersions of solids in liquids and of liquids in liquids, using liquids which have substantial differences in density. One variant of this experiment would be to use a magnetic field to produce directional solidification of non-contained eutectic materials. Another experiment would be the containerless solidification of a two-phase alloy with strong under-cooling. It has been suggested that containerless cooling of under-cooled materials which are known to become amorphous would be unlikely to extend glass-forming regions unless this cooling is accelerated by other means, such as splat cooling. The study of the cooling of amorphous materials such as glass is potentially of great industrial importance. Container contamination is a factor that is known to be responsible for self-damage in laser glass.

# Convection At Reduced Gravity

It is a common mis-impression that natural convection cannot occur in low-gravity (say  $10^{-6}g_0$ ) and, therefore, that no fluid motions can be expected. This has resulted in much enthusiasm being expressed for manufacturing processes in a reduced gravitational environment. In some situations, however, it may be desirable to have fluid motions in space processing, e.g., to stir the fluid phase vigorously for purposes of mixing or cooling. The extent and nature of fluid flow in space cannot, at present, be predicted because natural convection and other spontaneous fluid flows may still arise under some conditions. The misconceptions about fluid flow at reduced gravity prevail because non-gravity forces that could generate flows in such an environment are generally overshadowed in a normal gravitational field and are, therefore, unfamiliar. Furthermore, the principles governing the conditions under which any sort of natural convection is likely to occur are also unfamiliar or as yet undefined, or are confused because they are complex. In actuality there are a variety of non-gravity forces, as well as gravity, that can induce fluid flow. Such non-gravity driving forces include surface or interfacial tensions, thermal-volume expansions, density changes caused by phase change, and magnetic and electric fields. Gravityinduced convection, furthermore, can still be appreciable even at  $10^{-6}$ go under certain conditions. Some evidence of fluid flows in space flight are reported in refs. 44 and 46.

A description of possible low-gravity mechanisms for fluid convection will follow. Since a more basic understanding of these phenomena and extensive quantitiative data are needed to define the nature and significance of such flows, a number of experiments to these ends will be suggested.

#### Surface-Tension Convection

Convective fluid flows can occur that are driven by gradients in surface tension. Several specific experiments are described below.

Effect of Sidewalls on Marangoni Flow. - Surface-tension driven cellular convection was obtained in experiments performed on the flights of Apollo 14 and 17 (refs.44, 45 and 46). There are some basic differences between the related theoretical papers (refs.47 and 48) and the experimental results. Reference 46 indicates, in particular, that the critical Marangoni numbers (for the onset of motion) were higher than theoretically predicted. This discrepancy was tentatively attributed to a possible difference in the temperature gradient in the liquid layer. However, in a similar situation with gravity-driven cellular convection, the effects of the confining boundaries were found to be highly stabilizing, i.e., the onset of motion was delayed. With the exception of ref. 49, no theoretical or experimental work has appeared in the literature concerning edge effects (adhesion, aspect-ratio, and thermal conditions) on cellular motion induced by surface tension. Not only are edge effects important with regard to stability but they may also play an important role in determining the shape of the cell pattern (and, hence the rate of heat transfer) which results after the motion starts (ref. 50). It is therefore clear that edge effects are crucial to all aspects of surfacetension flows of this type.

٠

A series of experiments are proposed to investigate the problem comprehensively, viz., to find the effect of container aspect-ratio, sidewall "wetability", and thermal conditions on the onset of Marangoni (surfacetension) flow and on subsequent cellular patterns. This fundamental and important information can be obtained from a rather simple experimental procedure for which there is already some space-flight experience. The basic equipment would be pan-like containers with diameters up to approximately 10 cm. The bottom surface would be a heater capable of supplying up to 8 watts. The end-wall materials and thermal and wetability conditions would be varied. Fluid layers of the order of 2 to 5 mm would be established in the containers and the heater turned on. The sequence of resulting events can be recorded by a motion picture camera. The duration of each test would not exceed 10 to 15 minutes.

The paucity of information on this problem indicates the necessity of both theoretical and experimental work prior to space flights.

<u>Role of a Free Surface on Reduced-Gravity Heat Transfer.</u> - Heat transfer between the environment and a fluid in a open container can be expected to change significantly as the gravity level is reduced. For example, in a  $1-g_0$  field the natural convection may be turbulent (fig. 3a), while in

reduced-gravity the gravity force might still predominate over other forces such as surface tension but the natural convection could be quite different i.e., it could be laminar, cellular, or both (fig 3b). In these situations the free surface can be said to be passive in the heat transfer process in the sense that the fluid motion is induced by buoyancy. However, as the gravity force is further reduced the surface tension becomes dominant and there will be negligible gravity-induced convection. In this case, the free surface may play an active role in the heat transfer process because of the flow generated by surface-tension gradients (fig. 3c). Therefore, it is important to determine the nature of this flow as a function of the geometrical configuration, boundary conditions, container materials, etc. The penetration of this flow into the fluid away from the free surface should also be determined because it will influence the heat transfer. Although in many respects convection resulting from surface and interfacial tensions is similar to that generated by gravity there are two important differences. One is the direction of flow and the other is that surface tension can cause convection in fluid layers cooled from below whereas gravity cannot. These aspects should be examined in detail.





(a) Gravity driven in  $1 - g_0$  (Turbulent) (b) Gravity driven in  $10^6 g_0$  (Laminar)



(c) Surface tension driven in  $10^{12}$ g<sub>o</sub>

Figure 3. Modes of convection as a function of g-level

The apparatus for this experiment could be similar to that for the study of the side-wall effects on Marangoni convection, although the containers should be able to hold larger fluid volumes. Somewhat more instrumentation will also be required to define the flow and temperature fields in greater detail. Thus, thermocouples or liquid crystal tapes (as were used in the experiments on Apollo 14 and 17) will have to be utilized.

<u>Pressure and Temperature Variations in a Heated Closed Container.</u> -The development of a set of reliable equations for correlating temperature and pressure in a heated, closed container of liquid and vapor will be useful in the design of fluid storage tanks both on earth and in space. Applications in space include the storage of fuel and of fluids for life support systems and heat transfer equipment; earth applications include the transport and storage of LPG and LNG and, in the future, perhaps of liquid hydrogen.

Several thermal convective regimes exist within a heated fluid. Under some conditions the gravity-induced buoyancy force will dominate, but when the gravity field is small enough, other driving forces, such as those related to surface tension and thermoacoustic phenomena, may dominate. Experiments in low-gravity should be conducted to define the limits of each regime and to understand better the thermal convection mechanisms. Experiments in the buoyancy-dominated regime will also be of value in extending data acquired at normal gravity so that correlations can be obtained. It is desirable to cover a wide range of values of the Grashof number (the ratio of buoyant to viscous forces) by using different fluids, but there are several problems associated with this approach for earth-based experiments. Reference 51 shows that many other dimensionless groups associated with this problem also include liquid and vapor properties, and hence it would be difficult, if not impossible, to keep each group at the same value while testing with different liquids on earth. However, experiments over a wide range of gravity levels with a single fluid can produce a wide range of Grashof numbers while holding the other groups constant.

The temperature distribution may change enough when the gravity level is low to make other transport mechanisms important. No mathematical models except pure conduction have been found which predict the temperature distribution under these conditions even though, when the liquid-vapor interface becomes curved, surface tension effects may begin to affect the stratification profile, particularly in the vicinity of the interface. Measurement of these changes and the critical values of the dimensionless groups when the changes begin to take place should add to the total understanding of the process of internal convection.

ORIGINAL PAGE IS POOR

The principal objective of the proposed experiment will be to determine the pressure history and the transient temperature distribution within a heated container of liquid and vapor, with the liquid either in a quiescent mode, driven only by thermally produced driving forces, or by operating a mechanical mixing device to mix the fluid. The results would be correlated with the important dimensionless groups and compared with existing correlations and mathematical models. Pressure and temperature will be measured as a function of time for various heating conditions, gravity level, liquid height, and energy required by the mixing device.

The cylindrical tank design in a recently completed study of stratification at  $1-g_0$  and at high gravity levels produced by a centrifuge (ref. 51) might serve as a design guide for the low-g study. The tank could be heated by placing individually controlled blanket-heaters over its external surface and encapsulated in a polyurethane-foam insulation or placed in a large container which would be evacuated for thermal protection. A vent valve, located at the top of the container, and mixing system are needed. Limited  $1-g_0$  data (ref. 52) suggests that a jet-mixing system using an axiallydirected nozzle located at the bottom of the tank and connected to the outlet of a centrifugal pump is adequate. Instrumentation requirements include thermocouples, a pressure transducer, a flow meter to monitor the mixer jet-velocity, and variable power-supplied for the heater blankets. A data acquisition system for immediate data referral and for permanent data storage is also required. The test-time and power needed depend on the fluid or fluids selected. the tank size and geometry, and the number of available gravity levels. The total time required for all tests, including time between tests to settle the liquid, is on the order of 50 to 150 hours, with the longest single experiment requiring approximately 3 hours. The energy needed will be of the order of 10 to 50 KW hours with a peak of less than 1 KW. Manual operation of the experiments can be minimal. The main value of an observer will be to detect unexpected results or malfunctions.

Ground based experiments are necessary both to check out the total experiment system and to provide data at the upper range of Grashof numbers which will be correlated with the low-gravity data. These experiments must be conducted prior to the orbital study and should be reverified after return to the earth, if practical.

#### Thermoacoustic Convection

In the absence of gravity, thermal-volume expansions can act as the driving force for convection. Rapid heating of a confined fluid causes rapid local expansions which, in turn, generate pressure waves. The pressure waves produce a convective motion that can greatly increase heat transfer relative to conduction and can also cause the transport of mass and chemical species, thus providing a mechanism for enhancing or suppressing convective motion at low-gravity by controlling the heating rate.

Although the effects of sonic and ultrasonic vibrations on gravity convection have been studied in some detail, only a few papers present experimental evidence on purely thermally generated acoustic waves. Reference 53 discusses the phenomenon of sound production when a glass bulb with a long open neck is heated (Soundhauss phenomenon). The Soundhauss phenomenon is not dependent on gravity but depends only on the expansion of air within the glass tube. Sound pressures of about 150 dB and velocities of about 10m/sec are reported for heat inputs of about 500 watts. The production of sound waves in a water-salt solution by means of an electrically heated transducer is reported in ref. 54. Acoustic signals produced by means of laser-generated thermal stresses are described in ref. 55.

It does not appear that any experimental studies have been performed with the aim of determining the extent to which thermoacoustic convection causes the heat transfer to deviate from pure conduction. Relevant to the possibility of sustained steady convection caused only by thermal volume expansion is the suggestion in ref. 56 that temperature oscillations can be caused primarily by compressibility effects. Also relevant is the phenomenon of acoustic streaming, which is the pattern of steady vortices in a fluid subjected to a steady acoustic field. This type of motion is caused by a non-linear coupling of the fluid-particle velocities. Thus far, acoustic streaming caused only by thermal-volume expansions does not seem to have received any attention. Recently, thermoacoustic convection has been studied numerically by means of a simple one-dimensional model (ref. 57). It was found that (1) the thermally-induced wave motion is acoustical, (2) thermoacoustic convection can greatly enhance the heat transfer rate, and (3) the magnitude of thermoacoustic convection depends strongly on the thermal boundary conditions.

The experiments required to gain insight into this phenomena can be of relatively small scale. The apparatus would consist of closed rectangular and circular containers into which would be placed gases such as carbon dioxide and helium. Heaters would have to be contained in the walls (in the cylindrical ones, e.g., at one end). The sidewall would be insulated and the other end cooled to maintain ambient temperature, and they would have to be able to produce rapid heating at a variety of controlled and measured rates. The first phase of this test program would be to define how rapid the heating must be to generate thermoacoustic convection. This must be done for a variety of geometrical configurations and aspect ratios because the pressure wave reflections are important. Then, quantitative relations between heating rate and resulting convection must be determined as functions of the geometry, and, if possible, details of the velocity and temperature fields should be obtained. Each experiment would require only a few minutes because steady state is attained on that sort of time scale. The pressure can be measured with a transducer, and the heat flux density and temperature at both ends measured with heat flux gauges and thermocouples, respectively. Ground-based experiments should be run to guide the space experiments.

#### Convection Resulting From Mechanical Vibrations

Low frequency (from less than one hz up to 1000 hz) and low amplitude vibration of spacecraft produce effects equivalent to gravitational accelerations of up to  $10^{-3}g_0$ . This effect is commonly referred to as "g-jitter". Sources for such bumps or impulses in the spacecraft include motion of the occupants, attitude control measures, and internal mechanical events. In ref. 58 the effect of the fluctuations on a contained fluid were considered to be transferred to the fluid by normal and shear stresses. The former are associated with velocity fluctuations whereas the latter are attributed to orientation changes caused by relative motion between boundary surfaces and the enclosed fluid. Under the assumption that the shear stresses account for most of the convection, a relation was obtained between the Nusselt number (a comparison of random convection to pure conduction heat transfer) and the elapsed time between impulses for various geometries. The analysis considers only small amplitude vibrations and does not take into account substantial fluid flow that would result from large amplitude disturbances. An increase in heat transfer of between 300 and 400 percent is predicted during frequent impulses of small amplitude. Application of the analysis to the best vibration data from Apollo 14 (ref. 46) indicated a similar increase in heat transfer should have occurred but the actual measurements found the heat transfer rate to be an order of magnitude lower. The disagreement is attributed to the poor estimate of the average disturbance-period.

This phenomenon merits special consideration not only because it represents a convection mode that is suppressed under normal gravitational conditions but which is significant at reduced gravity, but also because the oscillatory nature of the force would be expected to reduce the threshold for convection resulting from other forces.
Instrumentation for these experiments needs to be developed to monitor the frequency and amplitude of the varying disturbance. The experiments should first be performed in the usual spacecraft environment with various plane, cylindrical, and spherical containers. With the "background" well established, controlled disturbances of varying frequencies and amplitudes could then be imposed to obtain extensive quantitative data.

#### Convection Resulting From Electric and Magnetic Fields

Electric and magnetic fields can produce convection and phase separation similar to that generated by a gravitational field. The interaction of charged particles with an electric field (electrophoresis) shows promise for improved separation of biological materials because of the reduction of gravity-induced convection and settling in space. Phenomena such as these have not yet been fully explored or exploited.

Fluid convection can be affected by subjecting a poorly conducting fluid, i.e., an insulator, to a dc electric field and a thermal gradient. Such convection is labeled "electroconvection". The mechanism driving electroconvection results from the fact that the electrical conductivity in insulating liquids is temperature dependent (ref. 59) which produces a gradient of charge density in the liquid. (The change of dielectric constant with temperature is too small to be of any consequence in promoting electroconvection). Electroconvection is reported to increase heat transfer significantly (ref. 60). Discussions regarding the different modes of convection engendered by electric fields are rather confused but, apparently a "wave-front" type of motion is characteristic. Perhaps this confusion is a result of not distinguishing between the relative orientations of the bodyforce and electrical-conductivity gradients, analogously to the usual gravitational convection wherein density gradients that are normal to the body force or that are parallel and opposed to it lead to different modes of convec-Another kind of fluid motion has been observed in the presence of only tion. an electric field (refs.60 and 61). This motion is induced in an isothermal, homogeneous fluid by the coupling of ion motion and fluid viscosity (ref. 61).

In earth-bound work the imposed temperature gradient is always vertically oriented to be stabilizing. In space, this restriction is unnecessary and, therefore, a broader range of configurations can be explored. The basic equipment for these experiments would consist of a small glass tank with two opposing sides of aluminum to serve as electrodes and heat transfer surfaces. The test fluid could be corn oil or castor oil. Thermometers or thermocouples could be used and some method of visualizing the flow would be needed. On earth the voltage required at the onset of motion is of the order of 5 to 10 KV whereas at  $10^{-6}g_0$  only about 100 volts would be required. Particular care should be taken to orient the temperature gradient in various directions relative to the electric field and to note the associated different modes of convection. Also an attempt should be made to obtain convection with no temperature gradient, for which voltages of 5 to 10 KV are required. In this case the effect of Joule heating on the process should be carefully assessed.

Electric fields can also produce other convection phenomena. In ref. 62 it was shown that an electric field can produce steady cellular motions in the interface region of two immiscible semi-conducting fluids. The motion depends on the difference in electric conductivity and dielectric constant of the fluids, and on the interface curvature. This motion could be studied in rather simple rectangular channels.

Another mode of fluid motion resulting from an electric field is known as "electro-osmosis", a fluid motion which occurs along a solid wall or capillary surface when an electric field is applied tangentially to the wall and the fluid is an electrolytic solution. The fluid motion arises as a result of the action of the electric field on the charges accumulated at the solidliquid interfaces. The extent of this region is usually quite small (ref. 62) but the interaction of this flow with others induced by electric fields can be significant.

Electrophoresis is a separation process based on the motion of particles in a fluid resulting from an electric field. Most materials which can be divided into fine particles take on a charge when they are dispersed in an aqueous solution. The charge may be arise from partial ionization, adsorption of ions on the dispersed particles, or ion-pan formation. Particles of different sizes and charges move in an electrified fluid at different velocities, and, hence, separate into distinct zones (ref. 64). Electrophoretic separation is normally characterized by the electrophoretic mobility which is a function of the electric field strength, the particle zeta-potential, the dielectric constant of the fluid, the fluid viscosity, and the shape and size of the particles. Separation is adversely affected by diffusion, sedimentation, and thermal convection. In low-gravity, the sedimentation and thermal convection would be reduced and, therefore, the sharpness of the separation should be improved.

Experiments to demonstrate electrophoresis were conducted during the flights of Apollo 14 (ref. 65) and Apollo 16. The separation resolution and shape of the advancing boundary of separated material was better in space than on earth. In addition, some interesting and unexpected fluid motions were observed which require further study. The so-called

"crescent phenomenon" caused by the simultaneous action of electro-osmosis at the wall and the electrophoretic motion along the axis (ref. 66) was observed. Because the charges on the particles in the fluid frequently have a polarity different from those at the wall surface, the particles move in one direction and the fluid next to the wall moves in the opposite direction. This results in a nose-shaped advancing front. However, in one of the tests in space the front assumed a bullet shape with a "neck" attached to it; this strange behavior has not yet been explained. Also, the measured electrophoretic velocities were much higher than predicted and some turbulent-like motion was observed. Thus, careful experiments are needed to gain more thorough understanding of the individual physical phenomena and their interactions. The experimental equipment can be similar to that used in the previous space flights, and would consist of three test tubes of about 0.6 cm inside diameter and 11 cm length. Electrodes would be located at each end of the tubes with a voltage of 270 volts dc applied to them. Solutions, biological material (hemoglobin and DNA) and mixtures containing polystyrene latex particles can be used as test fluids. The total time to demonstrate the separation is about one hour, during which three specimens could be examined.

Depending on the electrical and magnetic properties of the material under consideration, two types of thermal convection driven by a magnetic field can occur. If the material is an electrical conductor, such as a liquid metal, simultaneous application of a magnetic field and a thermal gradient can cause body forces because of the interaction between the applied and induced magnetic and electric field. In the case of paramagnetic materials that are electrical insulators, simultaneous application of a magnetic field gradient and a temperature gradient can also generate a body force analogous to gravity (ref. 67) because the volumetric susceptibility is temperature dependent. It is shown both theoretically and experimentally in ref. 67 that the magnetic body force can be larger in magnitude than the gravitational body force. To date, however, only the effect of magnetic field gradients on gravity driven currents has been studied. In a reduced-gravity environment the various modes of magnetothermal convection can be identified and described.

#### Solutal Convection

The more concentrated portions of a solution are of different density than the less concentrated portions. Gravity, therefore, makes the denser portions sink and the less dense portions rise. Inhomogeneous distributions of concentration in an isothermal solution may arise from various causes such as a solid dissolving or precipitating in it. If the concentration gradient is parallel to the gravity vector it is possible to have cellular convection. Convection generated by concentration gradients alone is rarely important on earth; however, simple experiments which demonstrate pure solutal convection are described in ref. 68. A significant difference between concentration gradients and temperature gradients should be noted: it is theoretically possible to have an initial infinite concentration gradient at the interface between a solution and a pure solvent. An infinite temperature gradient, on the other hand, is unlikely to be of any practical concern because the diffusivity of heat is so much greater than that of the solute. Thus, it is possible for the solutal cellular convection to begin immediately when a heavier solution is placed on a pure solvent. Also, because concentration gradients can be orders of magnitude greater than temperature gradients, gravitational solutal convection could exist even at  $10^{-6}g_0$ . Experiments to define such flows at reduced gravity are clearly desirable.

As discussed above, surface-tension gradients can cause appreciable convection. The surface-tension gradients themselves can be caused either by thermal or concentration gradients. A practical example of surfacetension induced convection resulting from concentration gradients is the case of a gaseous solute wherein release of gas from the solution by lowering the gas vapor pressure can set up concentration gradients in the liquid surface which would result in surface-tension gradients.

The critical Marangoni numbers for solutal convection observed in the experiments described in ref. 69 are several orders of magnitude larger than those predicted in ref. 57. The theory for solutal convection in ref. 70 provides some rationale for explaining the differences but there are several aspects which require further elucidation by careful experiments.

#### Thermosolutal Convection

Many unexpected convection phenomena occur as the result of the coupling between thermal and concentration gradients. For example, consider a tank of salty water that is heated from below. The salt concentration initially must decrease with height, for stable stratification. After a time a horizontal cellular structure of convection develops (ref. 71) because heat diffuses faster than solute. Differing diffusion rates for heat and solute also provide an explanation for a number of unusual convective phenomena in solutions. For example, the difference in diffusion rates is held responsible for the salt water convection known as salt fingers (ref. 72). In that case columns of cold fresh water rise and columns of saltier hot water descend. The slow rate of solute diffusion compared to the rate of heat diffusion yields this type of convection even though the mean density field actually decreases with height. Other such unusual situations can be cited.

In addition to the important role of the thermal and solutal diffusivities in thermosolutal convection, temperature gradients can also generate concentration gradients. This is known as the "Soret effect", and its influence on thermosolutal convection has recently come under consideration. The earlier work on thermosolutal convection dealt essentially with heating of initially stratified solutions. From recent work, however, it appears that the influence of the Soret effect has been vastly underrated since it is a natural mechanism by which initially homogeneous solutions can be stratified. Basically, the effect consists of a spontaneous development of a concentration gradient in an initially homogeneous solution when a sustained temperature gradient is imposed. The term "thermal diffusion" is also used to describe the effect but since that is invariably confused with purely thermal or heat diffusion, the term Soret diffusion will be used herein. If mixtures of salt and water, for example, are subjected to a sustained thermal gradient, salt migrates towards the cold end and increases the concentration gradient there. This is somewhat surprising because it would, offhand, be expected that the concentration gradient would develop in the direction of greater solubility, i.e., salt is more soluble in hot water than in cold. Therefore, a greater concentration of salt in the warmer regions would be expected on that basis. In any case, a general rule of thumb is that the heavier components generally migrate toward the colder regions and the lighter components toward the warmer regions.

The inverse of the Soret effect is the Dufour effect, i.e., a concentration gradient generates a temperature gradient. This effect is important only for gases.

The Soret effect has been used in various separation processes, but is not very efficient because, in the absence of convection, back-diffusion is significant. Convection overcomes the effect of back-diffusion markedly so that the separation process becomes more efficient by orders of magnitude. This method has been used to separate isotopes and variety of mixtures, including oils, organic isomers, electrolytes, and biologicals. However, in a normal gravitational environment the annular column spaces have to be very narrow to inhibit the convection which would otherwise be turbulent and harmful, and this results in small batch samples and large power requirements. The advantage of Soret separations in reduced-gravity environments is that larger sample sizes can be attained (more than 30 times as large at  $10^{-6}g_0$ ) while still maintaining the desired laminar convection; that is, the low-gravity environment is utilized to control rather than eliminate convection. Also, in the space environment no electrical power is required since solar radiation can be used.

REPRODUCIBILITY OF THE ORIGINAL PAGE & POOR

To gain an understanding of these unusual phenomena, it is proposed that a series of experiments be conducted to delineate the many flow and transfer processes that occur when temperature and concentration gradients exist simultaneously. Depending on the relative directions of the density and temperature gradients and the direction of the gravity vector, a given configuration and solution may or not be prone to convection. Furthermore, numerous convection modes are possible.

Most existing work is related to configurations in which the gradients are aligned with the gravity vector, either opposed to it or in the same direction. In future experiments they should also be transverse to the gravity vector. The convection patterns should be determined and the degree of separation determined. Ethanol-water solutions and annular gaps on the order of 1 cm to 3 cm can be used.

#### Convection Driven By Gradients In Chemical Potential

Reference 73 established the possibility of generating fluid motion without body forces by mechanochemical means in a continuous material having an appropriate subcontinuum structure. One very well known example of such a motion is that driven by interfacial-tension (Marangoni effect). Several cases of stationary instability with respect to small disturbances are given in ref. 73: active antisymmetric or deviatoric stresses that are linear in concentration gradient and effectively anisotropic in radial geometry, with a radially weighted bias; and active antisymmetric or deviatoric stresses that are isotropic and bilinear in a pair of concentration gradients. In the case of antisymmetric stress, strong evidence was found for an oscillatory instability. The source of kinetic energy imparted to the flow and driving the oscillations is the chemical energy that is transformed to concentration-dependent free energy by the reaction process responsible for the initial concentration gradients.

The results presented in ref. 73 indicate that if a material exists in which the passive stress is Newtonian and in which there is an active stress that depends nonlinearly on temperature or concentration, it should be possible to induce motion in the material by imposing a sufficiently large gradient. It is postulated that convective instability by active stress causes some biological phenomena and that there is a need for appreciation of states of stress other than isotropic bulk pressure and one-dimensional contractile force. Motion that sets in suddently and spontaneously in fluid or material at rest without body forces represents conversion of internal energy directly to kinetic energy. There are indications that such mechanisms operate at the cellular level in living systems and possible elsewhere. Reference 73 has established what type of mechanisms could generate such motions. Here are many challenges to theoretical rheology, plasticity and fluid mechanics.

REPRODUCIBILITY OF THE

Convective instability by active stress has not heretofore been observed, except possibly in biological systems. The reason for not seeing such phenomenon is probably that is has been masked by gravitational effects. Low-gravity will allow strong temperature gradients to be applied without convection induced by gravity. It will, therefore, seem worthwhile to investigate the generation of fluid motion by self-starting, continuous mechanochemistry in mechanically isolated systems without body forces.

A study must be first conducted to establish candidate fluids and chemistry. Polymeric and colloidal systems have been suggested as approximating living protoplasm. At low-gravity there ought to be several candidates. One could select suitable osmotic membranes and utilize reactions similar to those occurring in fluidized photosynthetic processes. In any event, the apparatus would be of moderate size (0.1 m<sup>3</sup>) and the experimental measurements required would be relatively simple. The experimental procedure would be the same as for the thermal stability experiments.

#### Coupling Phenomena

When two or more driving forces for fluid flow are operative in a given fluid, their combined action may be such that a given mode of convection is reinforced, annulled, or altered. In a sense, thermosolutal phenomena and electroconvection with temperature gradients are examples. What little work has been done on problems of this type pertains to very specific fluid configurations and the results are not readily generalized or predictable. The combined effects of gravity and surface tension and of gravity and rotational acceleration fields in cellular convection have been analyzed, and recently on Skylab 4 the combined effects of centrifugal force and surface tension were observed experimentally. In the Skylab tests, the spin-up of a freely-floating water bubble led to a dumbbell shape which eventually broke up into two separate bubbles. It would be extremely interesting to determine the internal flows in such a changing configuration. Another experiment conducted on Skylab 4 in which surface tension and centrifugal forces interacted involved a free liquid-cylinder attached at each end to rods that could rotate. With the rods both rotating in the same direction and after a critical rate was attained, the liquid zone assumed a "jump rope" instability, i.e., it appeared like the letter U which rotated about its end. This motion damped out rather quickly when the rotation ceased. Axisymmetric (bottle-like) instabilities are also possible. For more complete experiments, the material at the end of the rods should be varied to give different wetabilities. The liquids should also have different surface tensions in order that its effect on the rotation rate for zone breakup can be assessed. Again internal flows should also be determined.

The various methods of crystal growing from the gas phase, from solutions, and from melts are other examples of coupling of convective driving forces. Nucleation, homogeneity, and microstructure depend on the convection. Furthermore, most measured crystal growth rates are larger than those predicted on the basis of pure diffusion. Convection evidently must increase the concentration near the crystal. Most of the crystals grown on space flights seemed to be better in all regards than similar ones grown on earth. Thus, the coupling phenomena in space seem to be different and should be explored in depth. One such experiment in which significant convection would arise from surface tension and solutal motion is the precipitation of crystals of Rochelle salt (double tartrate of sodium and potassium) from a saturated solution. Rochelle salt is an extensively studied, nonhazardous, ferroelectric crystal, with a solubility curve that is suitable for room-temperature operation. A cylindrical container about 10 cm in diameter can be filled with the saturated solution, Rochelle salt powder, and a small seed crystal. The container will then be heated (at about  $65^{\circ}C$ ) until the crystal is nearly all dissolved. The container would then be removed from the heater and insulated so that it cools slowly to allow the crystal to regrow. The convective currents should be measured during both the heating and cooling phases.

#### Thermally Unstable Flows

When a fluid is heated from below, a complex cellular flow is established at some critical value of the Rayleigh number (a comparison of gravity-driven convection and pure conduction). Such flows are encountered in technology as well as in meteorology and other geophysical areas, and are the simplest kinds with which to study the fundamental mechanisms of the transition to turbulence. Thus far, only gross characteristics have been measured. Detailed and accurate measurements of velocity and temperature fields would further the understanding of such flows. The cellular flow undergoes a transition to a new flow at about 10 to 15 times the critical Rayleigh number, which is the beginning of the transition to turbulence. Fully turbulent flow is attained at 200 to 300 times the critical Rayleigh number. Earth-based experiments are of relatively small scale so that accurate, detailed information is extremely difficult to obtain. But if gravity were reduced by four orders of magnitude, for example, the product of the cube of the characteristic length and the temperature difference (numerator of Rayleigh number) could be increased by the same amount. Thus, the length could be 21 times greater than in the earth laboratory for the same temperature difference and fluid, or the temperature difference and characteristic length could each be an order of magnitude larger. For the latter case the influence of fluid property variations with temperature could be studied.

An experiment is proposed to obtain detailed measurements of the thermal and velocity fields in a fluid heated from below, for Rayleigh numbers from critical to 300 times critical, and to establish the structure of the transition to turbulent flow. The test chamber should consist of two parallel plane surfaces at least 0.6 m x 0.6 m, and the spacing between them should be variable from several centimeters up to 30 cm. A power capability of 2 KW would be more than sufficient. A timer, TV or motion picture camera, heat flux meters, hot wire anemometers and various instruments for temperature and pressure measurements are needed. Holographic interferometry is desirable for temperature measurement. The experiment would be carried out by filling the apparatus with some pre-selected fluid and adjusting the heating and cooling to desired levels. Measurements would then be made after steady state has been attained.

# Non-Heated Multiphase Mixtures

A number of experiments involving multiphase mixtures are recommended. For convenience in the presentation, these experiments are discussed in two groups: multiphase phenomena with no heat transfer, and multiphase heat transfer, which is treated in the next section.

On earth, multiphase mixtures generally segregate or separate because of differences in density. In the absence of gravity, dispersions and foams are formed more readily and are more stable with respect to segregation and separation. Such ease of formation and stability may be advantageous or deleterious for different processes depending on their objectives. The Space Shuttle offers an opportunity to study the factors controlling the formation and stability of multiphase mixtures without the complication of gravity, and the opportunity to carry out fundamental experiments with multiphase mixtures which cannot be carried out on earth because of separation. Dispersions of liquid and solid in gas, in liquid, and liquid in liquid will be considered in turn. Some experiments on bubble dynamics are also discussed.

#### Mechanics of Aerosols

Aerosols coalesce and settle as a consequence of collisions, surface charges, surface tension, and gravity. In low-gravity, convection is eliminated or reduced drastically, thereby reducing the frequency and intensity of collisions. On the other hand the reduction of shear forces reduces the disruption of chains of particles, such as soot. In any event the absence of gravity eliminates settling except as resulting from other field forces, and aerosols should be much more long-lasting and uniform. The characteristics and behavior of aerosols in low-gravity are of intrinsic interest, and the persistence of dispersed liquids and solids in the atmosphere of a space vehicle may be either desirable or undesirable from the health and safety.

Experiments are proposed to determine the long-term size-distribution and stability of dispersions of liquids and solids in air in low-gravity. Dispersions of liquids and solids in gas can readily be generated in a test chamber in the space vehicle by spraying. Soot can be generated by combustion with insufficient air. The particle density and size-distribution can be measured at a series of times by light transmission and scattering, the principal apparatus required consisting of a collimated source of monochromatic illumination, preferably a laser beam, at one or more frequencies, and a calibrated photocell which can be mounted and automated to sweep through at least 90° of angle. The general method of measurement has been described in ref. 74, and previously developed apparatus for soot generation and measurement may be a useful guide. Provision should be made for cleaning out the experimental chamber between experiments.

#### Foam Formation, Stability, and Behavior

Foams are destroyed by gravity and surface tension. In low-gravity, uniform foams should be easier to form and maintain. Hence it may be possible to construct unique metal or plastic structures by foaming and freezing in space. It should also be possible to study the fundamental characteristics of foams under more controlled and stable conditions than on earth and to observe the fundamental role of surface forces in the absence of the complication of gravity.

Experiments are suggested in which liquids are first foamed and then solidified. The foaming may be carried out by injection of gas into a flowing stream of liquid, followed by mechanical agitation to achieve isotropy and perhaps a controlled size of bubbles. The foam can be solidified by cooling and freezing or perhaps by chemical reaction (in the case of a polymer). Metal foams are probably of greatest practical interest but preliminary experiments with paraffin may be justifiable on the basis of experimental simplicity and safety. Water-gas foams can be generated similarly and the viscosity and stability tested by pumping the foam through a capillary tube. The effect of surfactants can be tested in repeated experiments.

These experiments require metering of the gas and liquid. The gas can be supplied from a pressurized source and the liquid either from a pressurized source or by pumping, in which case the pump may serve as a meter. Lightscattering equipment, as described for the aerosol experiments, is necessary to measure the density and bubble-size-distribution for the water-air mixtures. These characteristics may be measured on earth for the frozen samples if they can be returned undamaged. The density can be determined in space by volume-

tric and inertial measurements. A differential-pressure detector and a flow meter are needed to measure viscosity. References 75, 76, and 77 provide background for these experiments.

### Liquid-Liquid Dispersions

Liquid-liquid dispersions have many applications such as for extraction and for the controlled flow of mixtures of immiscible fluids, e.g. water and oil to engines. Such dispersions are generally destroyed rapidly by gravity, hence they are difficult to generate and even harder to study, in any fundamental sense, on earth. In low-gravity the generation of uniform dispersions and their maintenance should be much easier, offering an opportunity for study of their fundamental characteristics.

Experiments are suggested in which liquid-liquid dispersions are generated by agitation of previously weighed quantities of the two liquids in a closed container. The drop-size distribution and long-time stability can be determined by light-scattering as described for aerosols. The viscosity can be determined either from the power required by a rotary or vibrating device or by pumping the fluid through a tube as described below. The effect of surfactants can be determined in repeated experiments. Agitation can be accomplished by stirring or shaking.

Liquid-liquid dispersions can also be generated by pumping or pressuring the two liquids through a tube containing glass spheres as described in ref. 78. The density can be determined by metering the two input streams, the drop-size distribution and long-term stability by light scattering, and the viscosity by measuring the pressure drop in flow through a capillary tube. Again the effect of surfactants can be studied by repeating these experiments. Related experiments are described in refs. 79 and 80.

#### Dynamics of Bubbles

The dynamics of bubbles in liquids in low-gravity have been explored heretofore only cursorily. Many interesting phenomena are known to occur, and a large number of worthwhile experiments could be proposed. Only a few of these are discussed here.

A single, non-condensable gas bubble moves in a straight vertical line when it is spherical and has a Reynolds number less than several hundred. For higher Reynolds numbers, the bubble is distorted and moves in a helical or zigzag path. In low-gravity, the bubble size can be much larger before the unstable, non-rectilinear motion starts. Understanding the types of bubble motion that are possible in low-gravity is important in spacecraft design, and therefore experiments are proposed to study the motions in the space laboratory. The interaction of a bubble with a surface, especially a liquid free-surface, is also a fruitful field for study in space. Here it is proposed to determine the types of bubble motion that occur in the vicinity of a solid wall, and the magnitude of bubble velocity, size, and buoyancy force needed to cause the bubble to break through a free-surface, i.e., vent. Experiments are also proposed to observe the way in which several bubbles coalesce. The extended test times made possible by low-gravity will allow detailed study of the bubble rupture and coalescence processes. Further, larger bubbles can be used without loss of sphericity.

The apparatus needed for these experiments would be moderately large containers (say, 50 cm. in diameter) with provisions for inserting gas or vapor bubbles at various locations. The test fluids should cover a wide range of viscosity and surface tension. Variable gravity levels are required, so some of the tests must be conducted during low-gravity thrusting. Most of the observations could be made visually with high-speed photography. Ground-based analyses and tests would obviously be beneficial to aid in defining these experiments.

# Multiphase Heat Transfer

The relatively long periods of low-gravity provided by a space laboratory, as well as access to the space environment, are needed to obtain a better understanding of the effect of low-gravity on boiling, condensation and other multiphase heat transfer processes. Therefore, several types of experiments are proposed. The detail with which each experiment is defined is partly a measure of how much attention has been paid to a particular subject in the past. For example, pool boiling has been studied extensively in low-gravity earth-based experiments. As a result, space experiments in this area will be used to expand the previous work, taking advantage of the extended low-gravity periods. This is also somewhat true of forced-flow condensation experiments. On the other hand, the small amount of low-gravity testing in forced convection boiling have only indicated that some unexpected phenomena may be present. As a result, the proposed tests are not defined in as much detail and the first step will likely be to cover a range of experimental conditions to bracket the problem and to identify flow situations that are gravity dependent. Evaporation and condensation from augmented surfaces, can also benefit from study at low-gravity conditions by obtaining a more fundamental understanding of these processes at gas-liquid interfaces. In particular, it would be valuable to determine how they are affected by fluid and thermal properties, gas-phase characteristics, the wetability of a heated surface, and the surface geometry near the interface.

The rapid cooling of molten metals can be considered in a separate category. Here the goal is to utilize the space environment to see whether or not significant improvements can be made in the production of certain alloys.

#### Boiling Heat Transfer

Although boiling heat transfer is one of the most efficient means of heat removal, the various boiling regimes are not entirely understood. Theoretical analyses are available for peak heat flux and film boiling situations. Droptower and aircraft results indicate some agreement with theory in this area; however, lower gravity levels and longer test periods are required to make an adequate comparison. The transition region between the nucleate and film boiling regimes has not been modeled and consequently little information on how this regime is affected by gravity is available. The same is also true for the incipient boiling point as a function of gravity. Finally, nearly all of the existing nucleate boiling models and correlations show a gravity dependence which have been inconsistent with the present low- and high-g data. As a result, further experimental clarification of the low gravity effect on boiling is needed.

The availability of an extended low-gravity period offers the opportunity to achieve several objectives. One is to obtain a correlating equation for the boiling heat transfer coefficient as a function of the magnitude of the gravity field. The other is to obtain visual data for the bubble growth and removal phenomena which should contribute to the understanding of the mechanism. The successful synthesis of results from both categories should result in a more complete quantitative description of boiling as a function of gravity. Much of the apparatus and instrumentation for these experiments is common to both.

Effect of Gravity on the Boiling Curve. - The main objective of this experiment is to determine the effect of low-gravity on each of the regimes associated with pool boiling heat transfer from heater surface. These regimes include incipient boiling, nucleate boiling, peak flux, transition boiling, and film boiling, which are illustrated in fig. 4 for a  $1-g_0$  condition. The heater surface-temperature would be measured as a function of the wall heat flux for a given liquid, gravity level, and heater surface. A photographic analysis of the bubble phenomena would be an integral part of this study and can be accomplished with a high speed motion picture camera and the appropriate lighting.

Since the scope of this experiment could easily exceed the capabilities of the laboratory for any single mission, it will be necessary to make a priority rating of the individual experiments and fit them within the available resources. Some of the parameters in addition to gravity level that should be considered are subcooling, heater surface orientation, heater size, surface conditions, and liquid properties.



Figure 4. Typical boiling curve for water under 1-g<sub>0</sub> conditions

Descriptions of boiling apparatus available in the literature can serve as a guide for this particular experiment. Reference 1 presents an earlier design of a low-gravity boiling experiment that may be especially useful. The simple technique of placing a heated body into the liquid and recording its heat loss rate and temperature as it cools could be employed if necessary (ref. 81). The major equipment, such as the outer test tank, the lighting and camera, and much of the instrumentation should be common to all of the boiling experiments. The test heaters most likely will differ, and the system should be designed to allow for easy installation and removal of heaters between experiments. The size and shape of the heater surface will have to be carefully considered, and more than one geometry and size should be used, depending on the laboratory mission constraints and priorities. An important consideration in this regard is the study reported in ref. 82 in which the interacting effects of gravity and heater size on the peak and minimum heat fluxes for pool boiling were studied. These results indicate that when the ratio of the buoyancy forces to surface tension forces becomes small, a boiling regime is reached that differs appreciably from the conventional one. Here the distinct maximum and minimum fluxes (see figure 4) as well as the nucleate boiling domain tend to disappear. Hence, the experiments should be conducted to extend results in this regime as well as in the regime where a conventional boiling curve is expected. If the observations of ref. 82 hold at low gravity values, heater sizes will have to be increased considerably over those used at  $1-g_0$  in order to obtain the conventional boiling regime. Reference 83 has also pointed out the need for considering larger heaters for low-gravity boiling.

The temperature of the liquid and the heater surface must be measured. If the added complexity is still within practical limits, a small, moveable probe could be used to measure the large temperature gradient in the liquid close to the surface of the heater. Thermocouples can be used for all other temperature measurements, although liquid crystals may be an alternative if simplicity is required.

Several different levels of complexity can be designed for recording the bubble phenomena. The simplest would be to use a high-speed motion picture camera with the proper lighting, while a somewhat more complex arrangement would use a shadowgraph or Schlieren system in conjunction with the high-speed camera. This type of photography would provide information on the transient formation and disruption of the thermal layer adjacent to the surface of the heater.

The total energy requirements and the test period will depend on the actual number of experiments that are conducted. For a given heater, liquid state, and gravity level, approximately 25 data points should cover the entire boiling curve. This would require on the order of 8 hours to complete. In addition, at least 3 gravity levels should be employed. The maximum power requirement would be of the order of 5 KW and the total energy requirement for a single boiling curve would be between 0.5 and 5.0 KW hours. Thus, for a single liquid and heater, if 3 gravity levels were available, for example, the total test period would be approximately 25 to 30 hours. The total energy requirement will be less than 15 KW hours for the heaters plus approximately 10 KW hours for camera lights. The degree of manual operation for this experiment can be small or large, depending on the design. The major control tasks will include heater adjustments, camera and lighting adjustments, and temperature and pressure controls. These could all be automatically sequenced or carried out by an operator. Reference 84 presents a method of feedback control that can produce the entire boiling curve without danger of burnout. Nevertheless, there are certain tasks which will require manual operation.

<u>Bubble Forces.</u> - Steady nucleate boiling can occur only as long as there is a continual removal of the bubbles formed at the surface. The magnitudes of the various bubble-removal forces depend on both the liquid properties and the physical conditions. A study of the forces associated with bubble attachment, growth, and breakoff in low-gravity will provide a more fundamental and quantitative understanding of how gravity affects the nucleate boiling process.

The object of this particular experiment is to record the bubble-size visually as a function of time, which will then be used to calculate the magnitudes of the bubble forces. Figure 5 is an example of the curves that can be obtained.



Figure 5. Force-time plot for a low gravity bubble

Various liquids will be used to investigate the effect of changing the order of importance of the various parameters affecting the bubble forces. This set of experiments would essentially be an extension of earlier droptower tests (refs. 85, 86, and 87) which showed that bubble-departure was governed by the interaction of the buoyancy, inertial, and surface-tension forces. Liquids which resulted in rapidly growing bubbles demonstrated that the inertial effects could play a more important role than buoyancy in removing bubbles in low-gravity. An orbiting laboratory will allow the parameterization of heat flux values and gravity levels over considerably longer test periods and also eliminate any possible transient effects which may have occurred in droptower tests. Liquids should be used that would cover a wide range of values of the force ratios. It should be possible to verify whether or not the breakoff diameter of bubbles can be corelated with these force ratios. The results should also be examined with respect to the relationship between overall heat transfer and gravity.

The basic difference in apparatus between this experiment and the one to obtain boiling curves is in the heater surface. Since the number of natural nucleating sites must be small in the bubble forces study, a highly polished surface should be used. However, it may be possible to design the heater systems so that they are interchangeable or a smooth surface could be added for this set of experiments. The photographic arrangement would also be the same although it may be necessary to increase the camera speed for these experiments. Energy and time requirements would be of the same order as those for the boiling curve experiments. Although fewer data points will be needed for a given liquid, a larger number of liquids should be used. Experiment control criteria should apply in approximately the same way for both the boiling-curve and the bubbleforce experiments.

<u>Bubble Microlayer</u>. - Present evidence suggests that the microlayer which forms at the base of growing bubbles is the dominant mechanism of the bubble growth and also may be the major contributor to the heat removal process. A sketch of the microlayer is shown in figure 6. For some fluids there will be an extended time period of bubble growth in low-gravity that can be used to provide a more accurate determination of this effect. The time history for a microlayer may be easier to measure than for small bubbles. These data can then be related to the overall boiling mechanism (boiling curve) at various lowgravity levels to compare the relative importance of microlayer evaporation and bubble agitation as mechanisms of heat removal. If this can be experimentally resolved, a better basis will be provided for developing a model of nucleate boiling.





The objective of this experiment will be to determine the geometry of the bubble microlayer attached to the heater surface. Reference 88 may serve as a guide for the design of the low-gravity optical system. An indirect method of determining the effect of microlayer evaporation on boiling may be considered as an alternative or as a second experiment in this area; references 89, 90, and 91 indicate different approaches.

High-speed, interferometric, motion-picture photography from beneath a transparent heater surface has already been employed (ref. 88) to provide the details of microlayer geometry. Here, the heater was a glass disc coated with an electrically conducting, transparent film of stannioxide; vertical glass walls enclosed the heater bottom and provided the boiling container, which was immersed in a second tank. The water jacket in the second tank controlled the bulk temperature within the boiling container. The test period and heater power for the microlayer experiment should be less than that for the boiling-curve and bubble-force experiments. It is unlikely that this experiment can be automated because of the complex optical system required.

#### The Marangoni Effect on Bubbles

A limited amount of work has gone into investigating the liquid motion in the vicinity of a gas or vapor bubble resulting from a temperature gradient within the liquid. In general, surface tension decreases with increasing temperature and thus is greater in the cooler region surrounding the bubble. In addition to the Marangoni flow, a bubble within a temperature gradient will experience a force unbalance, which, however, is overshadowed by the buoyancy force in earth-based experiments and is difficult to measure. Accurate measurements of this effect therefore must be obtained in a lowgravity field. The Marangoni flow near a bubble attached to a heater surface may also be important as a heat transfer mechanism (refs. 92, 93, and 94) although experimental results are not definitive, which may in part be caused by buoyancy forces present on earth. Since the convection heat-transfer mechanism will be significantly reduced in low gravity, the Marangoni effect should be readily observed in space by placing one or more bubbles on a heated surface and comparing results with and without the bubbles.

In low-gravity, the location of the liquid and vapor phases in a container may not be known with certainty. If the Marangoni effect results in motion of an unattached bubble, then in a liquid with a temperature gradient the bubbles should migrate towards the hottest wall. If the magnitude of this effect and the gravity domain where it is important can be established, the rate of bubble migration and the prediction of their ultimate destination can be made.

Experiments in low-gravity are proposed to determine whether the Marangoni effect can cause an unattached bubble to move through a liquid, and to determine the magnitude of the effect on heat transfer from a surface. The apparatus could consist of a transparent, cylindrical tube with an electrical heater at one end. Provisions would be made to insert a bubble into the tube at several locations along the tube, including the heater surface. The longitudinal axis of the cylinder would be oriented in the same direction as the gravity vector.

The experiments on attached bubbles should be conducted with the heater surface facing both "upward" and "downward" with respect to the gravity vector. One or more bubbles will be attached to the surface for both cases. The resulting effect on heat transfer because of the induced motion of the liquid near the bubbles can be obtained by comparing these results for both heater orientations without bubbles. The heater temperature for a given heat flux should be measured for all cases, and visual observations should be made. The flow patterns can be obtained by photographing the motion of small particles placed near the heater or by shadowgraph and Schlieren photography. The study of bubble motions can be conducted with the same

apparatus by inserting the bubble into the tube at some distance from the heater surface, again with the heater surface oriented in both directions. A third case should also be conducted with the heater off so that the bubble motion in an isothermal environment can be measured. In this manner, the effect of the temperature gradient on the bubble motion can be determined. For both of the experiments, tests should be conducted with several liquids having widely varying surface tension - temperature relationships and by parameterizing both the temperature gradient and the gravity field. Requirements for the heater size must be considered in designing the experiments.

#### Field Effects on Boiling

A space laboratory can also provide the conditions with which to study the effect of electric, magnetic, and acoustic fields on boiling heat transfer. As with the convection experiments, the low-gravity lets the effects of these fields be isolated from the gravitational effect. These experiments can be included within the framework defined for the low-gravity boiling experiments Thus, boiling curves and bubble-phenomena data can be obtained as functions of the various field strength under low - gravity conditions.

The proposed experiments will require instrumentation common to both the boiling and the convection heat transfer (with fields) experiments, so it should be possible to conduct these experiments with some of the apparatus and instrumentation from each. It is also likely that the containers and the heating elements from the boiling experiments can be used.

#### Forced Convection Boiling

When flow rates in forced convection boiling are sufficiently high, the pressure and drag on the bubbles may be considerably larger than the buoyancy forces. In this regime, the effect of gravity on heat transfer is not generally considered to be important. As a result, relatively little attention has been paid to the effect of low-gravity on forced convection boiling. Nevertheless a limited number of short duration experiments have been carried out and some unexpected results have been observed. For example, an instability has been found that only occurs in low-gravity (ref. 95). The flow was intentionally interrupted while heating of the tube was continued, and, when the flow was restarted, it was not steady. It was postulated that in low-gravity the bubbles coalesced during the period of no flow to form large vapor masses and liquid slugs, thus altering the liquid-vapor flow characteristics. This did not happen at  $1-g_0$ , since buoyancy forces in the

no-flow condition separated the liquid and vapor differently. In addition, ref. 96 reported that pressure oscillations in a heated flow loop were significantly damped in low-gravity but not at  $1-g_0$ .

These two examples illustrate that there are differences in heat transfer and flow between  $1-g_0$  and low-gravity for forced convection boiling, and that there is a need to define those flow regimes which are gravity-dependent. Both transient flow and the steady state must be considered. An analysis of bubble forces will aid in defining the limits between gravity-dependent and gravity-independent flow regimes. In addition, critical heat flux values for various gravity levels and various flows orientations with respect to gravity can be determined experimentally as a function of the important flow parameters using an approach similar to that of ref. 97 at  $1-g_0$ .

These proposed experiments on forced convection boiling may be incorporated into the flow loop for the experiments on forced convection condensation described below.

### Forced Flow Condensation in Tubes

Conventional vapor condensation methods are inefficient in low-gravity because of their dependence on body forces to help drive the condensedliquid flow. A proposed method of continuously condensing vapor under low-g conditions is to pump the vapor inside cooled tubes. A liquid-vapor interface is formed somewhere in each tube, across which the phase change occurs in the presence of an overall mass flow. The interface must remain stable for the scheme to work and the conditions for stability are not well understood. Previous experiments (refs. 98 and 99) with small horizontal tubes at 1-go have shown the total pressure of the vapor must be controlled accurately in order to make the pressure drop in the tube compatible with the pressure jump across the interface caused by capillary forces, or else the interface translates up or down-stream. It also seems that the jump in fluid density across the interface leads to a jump in fluid velocity, and the forces produced by the momentum change may cause instabilities. When high vapor flow rates are used, droplets formed upstream will strike the interface and cause oscillations or dislodgement; thus, there probably is an upper limit on the rate of condensation for a given tube diameter and given fluid properties. Therefore, experiments in low-gravity, where much larger tube diameters can be used because of the absence of potentially destabilizing body forces, would be valuable to survey the interfacial stability of various wetting and non-wetting liquids as a function of flow rate, total pressure, contact angle, interfacial tension, tube diameter, etc.

In addition, the problem of liquid runback which will occur upstream of the interface can produce instabilities. Reference 100, which gives an analysis of an orbital experiment on condensing heat transfer experiment, may be useful during the design phase of the experiments. Finally, as suggested in ref. 99, two-phase forced-flow experiments should cover a wider range of flow and heating variables than have been covered to date. These, along with some transient flow conditions, should be studied to determine whether or not any other significant effects of gravity may be found.

### Evaporation and Condensation from Augmented Surfaces

Where there is a change of phase, devices for augmenting heat transfer can give significant savings in capital and energy costs. Sea water conversion, for example, requires evaporator tubes for which the evaporation can be increased by surface tension through proper shaping of the tubes. The process for liquefying natural gas requires heat transfer at very small temperature differences to be economical; the condensing side is controlling, and surface tension control by shaping of the tubes is currently used. In these applications, most of the heat transfer occurs at a meniscus, and, at present, enhancement of heat transfer by surface tension effects is not well understood. Measurements on earth are very difficult because the meniscus is so small, and flow within the meniscus is inferred rather than measured. Low-gravity permits a much larger geometric scale.

A shaped, heated (or cooled) surface will be placed in an environmental chamber, with sufficient instrumentation to measure heat flux. During an evaporation experiment, vapor will be removed from the system and liquid added, whereas during a condensation experiment vapor will be added and liquid removed. Photography and holographic interferometry can be used to determine the shape of the vapor-liquid interface and the temperature distributions in the meniscus and in the nucleating bubbles. If possible, the apparatus should be designed so that electric and acoustic fields can be investigated. Dropwise condensation is of particular interest.

#### Solidification and Cooling by Liquid Impingement

The study of rapid cooling by a liquid impinging on a solid surface has been studied to a limited extent (refs. 101, 102, 103, and 104). The name "splat" has been given to alloys that have been cooled from the molten state so rapidly that they solidify in a metastable state. Splat, in addition to having some unusual mechanical characteristics, also has interesting electrical properties. The technique has been used to identify superconductors, although other methods are used to produce significant quantities of the material. Splat has also been used to make amorphous ferromagnetic alloys. The classical approach to cooling solid alloys rapidly enough to freeze in metastable phases is by forced convection. Heat transfer can be greatly increased by using a velocity of several hundred feet per second for the cooling fluid in contact with the specimen, by using fluids which have a high thermal conductivity such as hydrogen or helium, and by utilizing specimens about 50 microns thick and a few millimeters in diameter. Such techniques can produce cooling on the order of 10,000 to 20,000 C<sup>O</sup>/sec. To obtain higher rates of cooling, the heat-removal mechanism must be conduction. High rates of cooling by conduction require that the substrate must be made of a good heat conductor; very good thermal contact must exist between the liquid and the substrate; the liquid layer must be relatively thin; and the time between initial contact of liquid with substrate and the end of solidification must be extremely short.

The three methods of producing splat on earth—the shock gun, the plasma jet, and the anvil and hammer—all suffer from serious shortcomings which might be overcome by a space-production technique. A space laboratory offers at least two advantages in studying splat: (1) a hard vacuum, which would reduce the possibility of contamination of the resulting alloys; and (2) a good heat sink for maintaining the substrate at a low temperature.

The proposed experiments for space are ones designed to learn more about the materials produced by rapid cooling of metal-alloys as well as the mechanism of high rates of heat transfer. The apparatus used to carry out the experiments might consist of a crucible for melting the material to be splatted, a method of pressurizing the crucible, and a copper or some other high-conductivity material substrate, so arranged that one side can be directly exposed to space. The chamber in which the experiment is carried out should be equipped for venting to space. Splat is then produced by forcing a quantity of molten material under pressure out of a nozzle on the crucible onto the cold substrate while the whole apparatus is exposed to the hard vacuum of space and one side of the substrate is exposed to the low temperature of space with an appropriate heat removal system.

# EFFECTS OF A SPACE LABORATORY ENVIRONMENT

The environmental effects of a space laboratory must all be considered in designing an experiment and interpreting the data. Failure to do so can compromise the intended objective or even lead to erroneous conclusions. The most important of these effects are discussed in a general way in this chapter.

# Non-Uniformity of Gravity Field

Many of the proposed experiments require only that the gravitational field of the space laboratory be so small that gravity forces are negligible with respect to other forces, i.e., the absolute magnitude and orientation of the gravity vector is irrelevant, as are small non-uniformities. Experiments on free-surface dynamics and capillarity are typical of this class. For container sizes commonly used in experiments, surface-tension forces will be many times larger than gravity forces whenever  $g \lesssim 10^{-5} g_0$  or even  $g \lesssim 10^{-4} g_0$ , and hence, non-uniformities in g of this magnitude or smaller are inconsequential. The critical phenomena experiments are also in this class. For other experiments, typified by the convection groups, it is probably necessary not only that  $g \lesssim 10^{-5} g_0$  or  $10^{-6} g_0$  but also that gravity acts uniformly and constantly on the whole experiment. To put these possible effects into perspective, several causes of non-uniformity must be considered.

A vehicle in orbit is in equilibrium with two forces. The centrifugal and gravitational forces balance at the vehicular center of gravity. Away from the center of gravity, the gravitational acceleration is directed normal to the vehicle's trajectory; outside the center of gravity, the force is directed outwardly and inside it is directed inwardly (towards earth). A simple force balance, ignoring small terms, gives the following relation for the perturbing acceleration:

$$\mathbf{a} \approx \left[ \Omega^2 + \frac{2 \mathbf{g}_0 \mathbf{r}_0^2}{\left(\mathbf{r}_0 + \delta \mathbf{r}\right)^3} \right] \epsilon$$

where  $\epsilon$  is the distance from the center of gravity. The parameters  $\Omega$ ,  $g_0$ ,  $r_0$  and  $\delta r$  are the rotational speed in radians per unit time, the earth's gravitational acceleration, the radius of the earth, and the orbital distance, respectively. For a 90-minute orbit at 350 km,

 $a \approx 4 \times 10^{-6} \epsilon (L/sec^2)$ .

At a distance  $\epsilon = 1$  m from the center of gravity, this non-uniformity amounts to about  $4 \times 10^{-7}$  g<sub>o</sub>.

If the vehicle is rotated to maintain a fixed orientation relative to the earth, there is a centrifugal acceleration outwardly directed from the center of gravity of magnitude given by:

$$a = \epsilon \Omega^2$$

For a 90-minute orbit,

$$a \approx 10^{-6} \in (L/sec^2)$$

The self attraction between two masses can cause an experiment to be subjected to accelerations of a slightly smaller magnitude. The expression is

$$a = \frac{F}{m} = \frac{GM}{r^2} \approx 6.67 \times 10^{-11} \frac{M}{r^2} \text{ (meter/sec}^2\text{)}$$

where M is the disturbing mass in kilograms and r the distance between the bodies in meters. If M is 5000 kg, this effect will be of the same order as the previous two accelerations.

The vehicle will also have an acceleration caused by aerodynamic drag which is a function both of altitude and where in the atmosphere the vehicle is located. At a constant altitude, of say 400 km, the drag on the vehicle will vary with orbital position. Any ellipticity in the orbit will amplify changes in acceleration acting on the experiment.

In essence, what this says is that a "zero" g experiment is next to impossible. Only at  $10^{-5}$  g<sub>0</sub> or higher are experiments which require precise gravity fields feasible without undue difficulty. Even at  $10^{-5}$  g<sub>0</sub>, care must be taken. The lower the g-level, the greater the possibility of perturbations resulting from the vehicle attitude control system, drag variations, astronaut movement and the performance of other experiments.

For some experiments, a higher g-level may be tolerated in order to mask the non-uniformities in g. Fuel costs and weight penalties may lead the experimentalist to consider rotation to achieve these higher g-levels. If rotation is necessary, two acceleration disturbances are apparent: acceleration gradient and Coriolis acceleration. The acceleration gradient for a rotating vehicle is a/L where a is the rotationally induced acceleration at the experiment and L is the distance from the center of gravity of the vehicle to the center of gravity of the experiment apparatus. For a 1-m experimental tank, a 6-m moment arm is required to make the acceleration change less than 15-20% from the top of the liquid surface to the bottom. For a 15-cm slosh wave, this would result in approximately a 2.5% non-uniformity. The ratio of Coriolis acceleration to linear acceleration is  $2 \Omega X V/a$ . For high-amplitude surface disturbances or high-velocity flow, these effects are very important; for a 90-minute orbit, the effects are significant when  $g = 10^{-5} g_0$  and  $V = 10^{-3}$  m/sec. Low-amplitude, low-speed experiments will be relatively free from such effects providing they are located appropriately far from the center of gravity of the vehicle. For the boiling experiments, the Coriolis acceleration will cause the buoyancy-induced segment of the trajectory of a bubble to deviate from the direction of the gravitational acceleration by as much as  $45^{\circ}$  when  $g = 10^{-6} g_0$  and  $\Omega$  is appropriate for maintaining earth orientation.

All experiments must be analyzed with the various non-uniformities of the gravity field in mind. In extreme cases, an experiment may be feasible only during an interplanetary flight. Others can simply be conducted at higher g-levels than originally intended. Rotationally generated g-fields have their own problems and may or may not be feasible for some experiments. Tethering of the experiment is a possibility. It has, however, not been explored herein.

# G-Jitter

As contrasted to the non-uniformities of the gravity field, some of which must be accepted as part of the natural environment of an orbital vehicle, there are transient or time-varying perturbations to the gravity field at a point. The unsteady perturbations, which have been termed "g-jitter," can arise from two sources: spacecraft maneuvers and mechanical vibrations.

Spacecraft maneuvers can produce g-jitter of varying magnitudes. Attitude control systems, for example, can cause "bumps" of  $10^{-4}$  g<sub>0</sub> or greater. This problem can, however, be surmounted since, according to current Space Shuttle specifications, a "drift" mode of the vehicle can be maintained for up to 160 hours, during which only atmospheric drag and internal g-disturbances will be present. Experiments can also be planned so that the significant observations are made during shorter drift periods when there are no spacecraft maneuvers.

On the other hand, g-jitter caused by mechanical vibrations can not necessarily be controlled at their sources. Mechanical vibrations that are transmitted to the experiment have the same effect as a time-varying gravity. They can be caused, for example, by astronaut motion, rotating or reciprocating machinery, and extra-vehicular activities. Arm and leg movements by the experimentalist, breathing, "soaring" translations, and console operations such as flipping switches, are all significant in this respect. During the Skylab experiment on crew/vehicle disturbances (Experiment T-013), transient forces of as much as 310 newtons (70 pounds) were measured. Real-time

monitoring of the Skylab rate gyro and attitude data indicated that rotation rates of 0.4 deg/sec resulted from the soaring maneuvers of the astronauts and 0.015 deg/sec during vigorous exercise (ref. 105). Overall, some vibration levels, bumps, and transients have been inferred to be as large as  $10^{-3}$  go during the Skylab experiments. The frequency spectrum of this random vibration was about one to several thousand hertz.

Transient disturbances at a level of  $10^{-3}$  g are large enough to make questionable the scientific advantages of conducting controlled experiments in space. Proper attention to isolation of the experiments from vibration can, however, significantly reduce the magnitude of these effects. It is not possible to assess at this time the level of the g-jitter that will be present in the space laboratory; we have based our recommendations on the assumption that careful design of the experiments can make the effects tolerable. Nonetheless, the problems of g-jitter are recognized as being potentially the most difficult obstacle to controlled experimentation in a low-gravity environment. We strongly recommend that further research be conducted for the objectives of defining the g-jitter environment, measuring it, and

relating it to the objectives of the proposed experiments.

# **Cosmic Radiation**

All the Space Shuttle orbits are within a natural, magnetically-confined plasma in a hard vacuum. High-energy cosmic particles bombard the Space Shuttle as well. This charged particle stream in space may interfere with charged-droplet and cloud-physics experiments. Abnormal nucleation may be caused by passage of the particles through a gas or liquid during a phase change, especially for those experiments in which a liquid or solid undergoing a phase change is deliberately exposed to vacuum.

### Instrumentation

The Committee gave some thought to the kinds of measurements that will have to be made to carry out the experiments and to whether the measurements are influenced by the environment of the space laboratory. No unusual problems were identified, but several kinds of instrumentation must be developed.

A definite need exists for instrumentation that will record the g-jitter level accurately at the location of an experiment. <sup>1</sup> The present method is to back-calculate the g-jitter from recorded rate-gyro and attitude data, but this is of dubious accuracy. Many of the proposed experiments suggest the use of laser, interferometric holography as an optical measurement technique, but we believe that there is no laser holography apparatus currently available that can withstand the rigors of space flight. Space-flight-rated laser light detection techniques, such as photon-counting, are also needed, as are optical detection and photographic apparatus. Perhaps, there is also a need for temperature-control techniques.

Other, more specialized, apparatus include a wave-probe for measurements of low-gravity wave profiles. With the exception of optical techniques, all wave-probes used in earthbound experiments pierce the free-surface; in space, capillary-induced motion of the liquid could be a problem. Some of the experiments require metering or "weighing" of small liquid masses. Whenever a free-surface is present in low-gravity, the strong capillary forces make metering techniques difficult, and instruments for the precise and accurate direct measurement of mass in the gram or milligram range are not yet available for low-gravity use.

## Role of the Principal Investigator

The Committee believes strongly that the Principal Investigator should be actively involved on a real-time basis with the conduct of the experiment in space. In an ideal sense, the Principal Investigator should be the actual experimentalist in space. It is realized, however, that this may not always be feasible for a variety of reasons, such as the time needed for training. In these cases, it would be acceptable for one of his co-workers (such as a graduate student or a member of the research staff) to accompany the experiment and to communicate with the Principal Investigator for making decisions. The Skylab experiments apparently had reasonably good success with this "alter ego" concept (ref. 106). The only alternative to this kind of arrangement is that all data are immediately transmitted to the Principal Investigator while the experiment is in progress so that he can give directions to a technician on board.

# CONCLUDING REMARKS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Without attempting to compile an exhaustive list, the Committee has identified a large number of meritorious experiments in fluid physics, thermodynamics, and heat transfer that would benefit from being conducted in space. The experiments fall into five major groups, as shown by the summary presented in Table 1. This table also shows the interrelationships among the experiments and the need for preliminary studies. Each of the recommended experiments is scientifically meritorious. While a "ranking" has not been assigned to the experiments, the discussion of them in the text has indicated that some of the experiments should be conducted before others. In some cases, the later experiments build upon the knowledge gained in the earlier ones.

Ideally, the Principal Investigator should be the actual in-space experimentalist, but failing this, real-time feedback and control by the Principal Investigator from the ground is a necessity.

## Ground-Based Studies

Many of the experiments require ground-based studies to define more precisely the phenomena to be observed and to choose a procedure that will illustrate these phenomena. Here, we are not implying studies to select parameter ranges or hardware design; this is obviously a requirement, but it is properly a part of the design of an experiment after it has already been defined. The recommended ground-based studies, as summarized in Table 1, are of the type that will determine whether an experiment is feasible, and if so, how to maximize the desired effect.

The most important of these ground-based studies include

feasibility of preparing a homogeneous sample near the critical mixing point in low-gravity

determination of liquids and container materials (or coatings) that minimize hysteresis in the contact angle, for the standing wave experiments, and that have a ninety degree contact angle, for the maximum-amplitude wave experiments, and theoretical studies to define and interpret the experiments

studies to define and interpret experiments or liquid- and gasjet instabilities

- studies to define experiments on the role of the free-surface and surface tension in convection, and the development of a theory to interpret results on thermoacoustic convection and convection resulting from vibrations
- estimates of the magnitude of electric fields required to initiate electroconvection effects, and an assessment of the effect of Joulean heating on the process
- acquisition of understanding needed to establish candidate fluid systems for convection driven by chemical-potential gradients
- studies to define experiments on bubble coalescence and bubble interaction with a free surface
  - studies to establish the governing dimensionless parameters for thermal stratification in a heated, closed tank of liquid and vapor

theoretical and experimental studies to define the experiments on the effect of external fields on boiling.

The Committee also believes that certain instrumentation must be developed to ensure the success of the experiments. The most important are:

- instrumentation to record accurately the g-jitter level at the experiment location
- . space-flight-rated laser, holographic interferometry system
- space-flight-rated laser light detection and scattering system

low-gravity wave probe.

Every experiment has its own instrumentation requirements; the above instrumentation systems are common to entire classes of experiments.

64		Title of Experiment		Objective	Commonality with Other Experiments	Ground-Based Studies			
	I.	<u>Crit</u>	ritical Point Thermophysical Phenomena						
		1.	Exploratory studies of phase transition	Study types of low-gravity phase tran- sition phenomena for a pure fluid.	Light-scattering apparatus needed for many experiments; temperature-control bath needed for all Group I experiments.	Determine fluid systems that give optimum per- formance.			
		2.	Specific heat	Determine fundamental data for equation-of-state.	Objective related to I-2, I-3, I-4, and I-5.	Same as I-l			
		3.	Light-scattering and correlation length	Measure correlation lengths, possibly for samples whose correlation length is of the order of the laser beam size.	Light-scattering apparatus similar to I-1 and IV-1, and experimental technique similar to I-4.	Same as I-l			
I		4.	Dielectric constant and refractive index	Measure anomalies in these quantities,	Possibly can be combined with I-3	Same as I-1			
		5.	Velocity of sound	Obtain critical point data at wavelengths and frequencies different than for light- scattering; determine equation-of-state data.	Objective related to I-2	Same as I-l			
		6,	Diameter of coexistence curve	Measure anomalous behavior in co- existing densities.	Experimental procedure determined by results of other Group I experiments.	Design experimental technique.			
		7.	Viscosity	Measure weakly anomalous behavior.		Same as I-l			
		8.	Thermal conductivity	Accurately measure critical-point conductivity.	Similar to I-3 but for correlation lengths that are not small compared to wave- length of light.	Same as I-l			
		9.	Exploratory studies with a binary liquid	Study low-gravity phase transition phenomena in binary liquid mixtures.	Objective similar to I-1	Determine feasibility of preparing a homogeneous sample near the critical mixing point.			
	п.	Flu	uid-Surface Dynamics and Capillarity						
		1.	Static and dynamic contact angle hysteresis	Determine contact angle phenomena in static and dynamic liquid-solid con- figurations.	Results will augment II-3, II-4, and III-1, III-2.	No critical studies identified,			
		2.	Configuration of contained liquids	Determine equilibrium free-surface shapes for containers of various geome- tries, and transient configurations when container is subjected to a change in net acceleration.	Similar apparatus and optical instrumen- tation as II-3 and II-4.	No critical studies identified.			

· ·

.

.

i, r

		Title of Experiment	Objective	Commonality with Other Experiments	Ground-Based Studies	
	3.	Maximum-amplitude capillary wave	Determine shape of maximum-amplitude standing and traveling capillary wave.	Optical apparatus similar to II-2: objective related to II-4.	Determine liquid and con- tainer systems having 90° contact angle and little contact angle hysteresis.	
	4.	anding waves in a container	Determine zero-gravity "slosh" modes for various tanks.	Optical apparatus similar to II-2: objective related to II-4.	Determine liquid and con- tainer systems having little contact angle hysteresis	
	5.	Interfacial waves for two superposed liquids	Observe forms of instability.	Apparatus and objective related to II-4.	Same as II-3	
	6.	Droplet formation, breakup, and coalescence	Study interaction between droplets in external acoustic, electric, and thermal fields.	Objective related to IV-3; laser holography technique common to many experiments.	Design of space-rated laser interferometric system.	
	7.	Stability of liquid and gas jets	Exploratory studies of instabilities.	Droplet production studies related to II-7; objective related to II-5.	Studies needed to define experimental conditions	
	8.	Formation of thin films	Determine feasibility of producing thin films by bubble casting.	Spreading related to II-9; heating appa- ratus common to heat transfer experi- ments.	No critical studies identified.	
	9.	Spreading of thin films	Fundamental study of spreading of liquids on surfaces, at various g-levels.	Capillary phenomena related to II-1.	Studies needed to define experimental conditions	
	10.	Effects of levitation	Study of advantages of levitation for solidification and liquid-liquid or liquid- solid dispersions.		No critical studies identified.	
IJIJ.	Co	nvection at Reduced Gravity				
	1.	Effect of sidewalls on Marangoni flow	Study effects of container geometry, wetability, and thermal conditions on surface-tension driven flows of a liquid with a free surface.	Objective and apparatus related to UI-2. III-3, and IV-4.	Theoretical and experi- mental studies needed to define experimental con- ditions.	
	2.	Role of a free-surface on heat transfer	Observe flow regimes (cellular, turbu- lent, etc.) as a function of geometry, materials, and thermal conditions.	Apparatus similar to III-1; objective re- lated to III-1, III-3, and V-4.	Same as III-1	
	3.	Pressure and temperature conditions in a heated, closed tank of liquid and vapor	Observe convection regimes and deter- mine correlation equations in terms of nondimensional parameters.	Apparatus similar to III-1 and III-2.	Same as III-l	
		Thermoacoustic convection	Exploratory studies of convection under rapid heating.		No critical studies identi- fied: theoretical work needed to interpret results	

•••

6		Title of Experiment	。 Objective	Commonality with Other Experiments	Ground - Based Studies
	5.	Convection resulting from mechanical vibrations	Exploratory studies of heat transfer and flow in a filled container for various vibration inputs.		Same as III-4.
. *	ΰ.	Convection resulting from electric and magnetic fields	Fundamental studies of electroconvection, electro-osmosis, electrophoresis, and magnetically driven flows.	Instrumentation similar to III-4, III-5, and II-7.	Assessment of Joulean heating effects.
	7.	Solutal convection	Exploratory experiments to define flows driven by concentration gradients.	Objective and apparatus related to III-8.	No critical studies identified.
	8.	Thermosolutal convection	Exploratory studies to define flows re- sulting from coupling of thermal and concentration gradients.	Objective and apparatus related to III-7.	No critical studies identified.
	9.	Convection driven by gradients in chemical potential	Fundamental studies of types of possible motions.	Procedure and apparatus related to III-11.	Acquire fundamental under- standing needed to establish candidate fluid systems.
	10.	Convection driven by combined effects of surface tension and other forces	Exploratory studies to define various flow regimes.	Objective and apparatus related to III-7 and III-8.	Determine fluid systems that give optimum perfor- mance.
	11.	Thermally unstable flows	Measure velocity and temperature fields and transition from cellular flow to furbulence.	Procedure similar to III-9; holographic interferometry common to many experi- ments,	No critical studies identified.
IV.	No	n-Heated Multiphase Mixtures			
	1.	Dynamics of aerosols	Determine long-term size distribution and stability.	Light scattering apparatus similar to I-3.	No critical studies identified.
	2.	Formation, stability, and behavior of foams	Studies of characteristics of foams and role of surface tension.	Same as IV-1.	No critical studies identified.
	3.	Mechanics of liquid-liquid dispersions	Measurements of properties and behavior of liquid-liquid dispersion.	Light scattering apparatus similar to I-3; objective related to II-7.	Selection of liquid systems to emphasize desired phe- nomena.
	4,	Bubble dynamics	Determine mechanics of coalescence process, types of bubble motion, and interaction with free-surface.	Optical and photographic techniques common to several experiments.	Studies to define experimental conditions.
<b>V</b> .	Mu	ltiphase Heat Transfer			
	1.	Effect of gravity on boiling curve	Determine role of gravity in incipient boiling, nucleate boiling, peak flux, tran- sition, and film boiling.	Apparatus and objective related to V-2, V-3. and V-4.	No critical studies identified.
	2.	Bubble forces in nucleate boiling	Fundamental studies of forces acting on bubbles in nucleate boiling.	Same comments as V-).	No critical studies identified

· ·

t •

66

1 ,

			· · ·		
		, Title of Experiment	Objective	Commonality with Other Experiments	Ground-Based Studies
	3.	Mechanics of bubble microlayer	Exploratory studies of role of microlayer in boiling heat transfer	Laser interferometric system similar to III-il	No critical studies identi- fied.
	4.	Marangoni effect of bubbles	Determine role of surface-tension driven flow in vicinity of bubbles in heated liguids.	Objective related to III-1 and III-2.	Selection of liquid-vapor systems to emphasize desired phenomena.
	5.	Effect of external fields on boiling	Exploratory studies of effects of acoustic, clectric, and magnetic fields on boiling heat transfer.	Objective related to III-3, III-6, V-1, and V-II.	Ground-based studies needed to define experi- ments.
• *	6.	Forced convection boiling	Exploratory studies to determine tran- sients and instabilities.	Equipment common with V-7.	Same comments as V-5.
	<b>7</b> .	Forced-flow condensation in tubes	Exploratory studies of instabilities and limitations of method.	Equipment common with V-6	Same comments as V-5.
	8.	Evaporation and condensation from augmented surfaces	Fundamental studies of mechanisms and flow regimes of evaporation and conden- sation at a meniscus.	Objective related to III-2 and V-7. Holo- graphic interferometric system common to many experiments.	No critical studies identified.
	9.	Solidification and cooling by liquid impingement	Exploratory measurements of obtainable cooling rates when a liquid impinges on a solid surface.	Apparatus related to II-6 and other heat transfer experiments.	Selection of fluid systems and design for maximum cooling rate.

#### REFERENCES

- Fredrickson, G. O., and Schweikle, J. D.: Thermo and Hydrodynamics Experiment Research Module in Orbit--Project THERMO. Douglas Missiles and Space Systems Division, Final Report DAC-60594, Contract NAS8-18053, August 1966.
- 2. Bowman, T. E.: Cryogenic Liquid Experiments in Orbit. Volume I: Liquid Settling and Interface Dynamic. NASA CR-651, Dec. 1966.
- 3. McGrew, Jay L., and Larkin, B. K.: Cryogenic Liquid Experiments in Orbit. Volume II: Bubble Mechanics, Boiling Heat Transfer, and Propellant Tank Venting in a Zero-Gravity Environment. NASA CR-652, Dec. 1966.
- Anon: Reference Earth Orbital Research and Application Investigations. Vol. I: Design of Flexible, Multidisciplinary Orbiting Space Facility and Logistics System and Definition of Research Projects to be Conducted. NASA R NHB-7150. I, Jan. 1971.
- 5. Anon: Space Physics Abstracts, Overview Charts, and Critical Issues (from Earth Orbital Experiment Program and Requirements Study). McDonnell Douglas Astronautics Co., Report MDC G-0680, Contract NASI-9464, Jan. 1971.
- Manned Functions in Space Observations: Materials Science and Processes. (Melvin Eisner, ed.) Summary of Proceedings of Seminar held at Lunar Science Institute, Nov 29 - Dec. 1, 1972. University of Houston, Houston, Texas 1972.
- Huang, J. S., Goldburg, W. I., and Bjerkaas, A. W.: Study of Phase Separation in a Critical Binary Liquid Mixture - Spinodal Decomposition. Phys. Rev. Lett., Vol. 32, pp. 921-923, 1974.
- 8. Levelt Sengers, J. M. H.: Thermodynamic Properties Near the Critical State. Experimental Thermodynamics II, B. Vodar and B. Le Neindre, eds. (IUPAC, in press).
- 9. Hohenberg, P. C., and Barmatz, M.: Gravity Effects Near the Gas-Liquid Critical Point. Phys. Rev., Vol. A6, pp. 289-314, 1972.
- Schmidt, H. H.: Critical Region Scaled Equation-of-State Calculations and Gravity Effects. J. Chem Phys. Rev., Vol. 54, pp. 3610-3621, 1971.

#### REFERENCES (cont'd)

- 11. Gasparini, F., and Moldover, M. R.: Specific Heat of He<sup>3</sup> He<sup>4</sup> Mixtures Very Near the  $\lambda$  Line. Phys. Rev. Lett., Vol. 23, pp. 749-752, 1969.
- Ahlers, G.: Thermodynamics and Experimental Tests of Static Scaling and Universality near the Superfluid Transition in He<sup>4</sup> Under Pressure. Phys. Rev., Vol. A8, pp. 530-568, 1973.
- Swinney, H. L., and Henry, D. L.: Dynamics of Fluids Near the Critical Point -- Delay Rate of Order-Parameter Fluctuations. Phys. Rev., Vol. A8, pp. 2586-2617, 1973.
- 14. Kim, D. M., Henry, D. L., and Kobayashi, R.: Effects of Density Gradients on Measurements of the Decay Rate of Spontaneous Density Fluctuations in Fluids Near the Critical Point. Phys. Rev., Vol. 10A, 1974 (in press).
- Stell, G., and Hocken, R.: Index of Refraction in Critical Region. Phys. Rev., Vol. A8, pp. 887, 889, 1973.
- Bedeau, D., and Mazur, P.: On the Critical Behavior of the Dielectric Constant for a Nonpolar Fluid. Physica, Vol. 67, pp. 23-54, 1973.
- 17. Hocken, R.: The Refractive Index of Xenon near the Critical Point. Thesis, S.U.N.Y. at Stony Brook, 1973.
- Weber, L. A.: Density and Compressibility of Oxygen in the Critical Region. Phys. Rev., Vol. A6, pp. 2379-2388, 1970, pp. 224-238, 1968.
- 19. Barmatz, M., and Rudnick, I.: Velocity and Attenuation of First Sound near the  $\lambda$  Point of Helium. Phys. Rev., Vol. 170, pp. 224-238, 1968.
- Thoen, J. and Garland, C. W.: Sound-Absorption and Dispersion as a Function of Density Near the Critical Point of Xenon, Phys. Rev. A, Vol. 10, pp. 1311-1327, 1974.
- Weiner, J., Langley, K. H., and Ford, N. C.: Experimental Evidence for a Departure From the Law of Rectilinear Diameter. Phys. Rev. Lett., Vol. 32, pp. 879-881, 1974.
- 22. Sengers, J. V.: Transport Properties of Gases and Binary Liquids Near the Critical State. Transport Phenomena 1973, AIP Conference Proceedings No. 11, J. Kestin, ed., pp. 229-277, 1973.
- Sengers, J. V.: Transport Properties of Fluids Near Critical Points. Critical Phenomena, Proceedings International School of Physics "Enrico Fermi", Course Ll, M. S. Green, ed., Academic Press, 1971.
- DeGroot, J. J., Kestin, J., and Sookiazian, H.: Instruments to Measure the Thermal Conductivity of Gases. Physica, Vol. 75, pp. 454-482, 1974.
- Scott, R. L.: The Thermodynamics of Critical Phenomena in Fluid Mixtures. Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chemie, Vol. 76, pp. 296-308, 1972.
- Mistura. L.: Effect of Gravity Near a Critical Phenomena in Fluid Mixtures. Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chemie, Vol. 76, pp. 296-308, 1971.
- Fannin, A. A. and Knobler, C. M., The Effect of Gravity-Induced Gradients on Coexistence Curve Measurements in Binary Mixtures. Chem. Phys. Letters, Vol. 25, pp. 92-96, 1974.
- 28. Dickinson, E., Knobler, C. M., Schumaker, V. N. and Scott, R. L.: Gravitationally Induced Density Gradients Near the Liquid-Liquid Critical Solution Point. Phys. Rev. Letters (in press).
- Schwartz, A. M., Rader, C. M., and Huey, E.: Resistance to Flow in Capillary Systems of Positive Contact Angle. Contact Angle, Wetability, and Adhesion, Advances in Chemistry Series, No. 53, pp. 250-267, 1964.
- 30. Prutow, R. J., and Ostrach, S.: A Hydrodynamic Model of Dynamic Contact Angle Hysteresis. Case Western Reserve University, AFOSR Scientific Report AFOSR No. 70-2882TR, Cleveland, Ohio, 1971.
- Concus, P., and Finn, R.: On the Behavior of a Capillary Surface in a Wedge. Proc. National Academy of Sciences, Vol. 63, pp. 292-299, 1969.

- 32. Concus, P., and Finn, R.: On a Class of Capillary Surfaces. Journal Analyse Math, Vol 23, pp. 65-70, 1970.
- 33. Taylor, Sir G. I.: An Experimental Study of Standing Waves. Proc. Royal Society (London), Vol. A218, pp. 44-59, 1954.
- 34. Labus, T. L.: Gas Jet Impingement on Liquid Surfaces During Weightlessness, NASA TN D-5720, 1970.
- 35. Concus, P., Crane, G. E., and Satterlee, H. M.: Small Amplitude Lateral Sloshing in Spheroidal Containers under Low Gravitational Conditions. NASA CR-72500, Feb. 1969.
- Dodge, F. T., and Garza, L. R.: Experimental and Theoretical Studies of Liquid Sloshing at Simulated Low Gravity. Trans. ASME, Journal Applied Mechanics, Vol. 34, pp. 555-562, 1967.
- 37. Chu, W. H., and Dodge, F. T.: Analysis of the Capsule Sizes Produced by a "Submerged Extrusion Encapsulation Nozzle." ASME Paper 70-FE-3, 1970.
- Frohlich, H.: Theory of Dielectrics. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1949.
- 39. Keller, J. B., Rubinow, S. I., and Tu, Y. O.: Spatial Instability of a Jet. Physics of Fluids, Vol. 16, pp. 2052-2055, 1973.
- 40. Pedersen, C. O.: The Dynamic and Heat Transfer Characteristics of Water Droplets Impinging Upon a Heated Surface. Carnegie-Mellon University PhD. Thesis, 1967.
- 41. Buckmaster, J.: Viscous-Gravity Spreading of an Oil Slick. Journal Fluid Mechanics, Vol. 59, pp. 481-491, 1973.
- Gal, V. V: Spread of Liquid on a Surface in a State of Weightlessness. High Temperature (translation of Teplofizika Vysokikh Temperatur) Vol. 10, pp. 181-182, 1972.
- 43. Hoult, D. P.: Oil Spreading on the Sea. Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics, Vol. 4, pp. 341-368, 1972.

- 44. Grodzka, P. G. and Bannister, T. C.: Heat Flow and Convection Demonstration Experiments Aboard Apollo 14. Science, Vol. 176, pp. 506-508, May 1972.
- 45. Bannister, T. C.: Heat Flow and Convection Demonstration (Apollo 14). NASA TM X-64735, March 1973.
- 46. Bannister, T. C., Grodzka, P. G., Spradley, L. W. Bourgeois, S. V., Hedden, R. O., and Facemire, B. R.: Apollo 17 Heat Flow and Convection Experiments. Final Data Analyses Results, NASA TM X-64772, July 1973.
- 47. Pearson, J. R. A.: On Convection Cells Induced by Surface Tension. Jour. Fluid Mech., Vol. 4, pp. 489-500, 1958.
- 48. Nield, D. A.: Surface Tension and Buoyancy Effects in Cellurlar Convection. Jour. Fluid Mech., Vol. 19, pp. 341-352, 1974.
- Bentwich, M.: Buoyancy and Surface-Tension Induced Instabilities of Fluid in Open and Closed Vertical Cylindrical Containers. Appl. Sci. Res., Vol. 24, pp. 305-328, July 1971.
- 50. Koschmieder, E. L.: On Convection under an Air Surface, Jour. Fluid Mech., Vol. 30, pp. 9-15, 1967.
- 51. Lovrich, T. M. and Schwartz, S. H.: Development of Thermal Stratification and Destratification Scaling Concepts; Vol. I - Definition of Thermal Stratification Scaling Parameters and Experimental Investigations. Final Report, Contract No. NAS 8-24747, McDonnel Douglas Astronautics Company, July 1973.
- 52. Poth, L. J., et al: A Study of Cryogenic Propellent Stratification Reduction Techniques. Final Report, Contract No. NAS 8-20330, General Dynamics, Sept. 1967.
- 53. Feldman, K. T., Jr: Review of the Literature on Soundhauss Thermoacoustic Phenomena. J. Sound Vib., Vol. 7, pp. 71-83, 1968.
- 54. Hellurd, E. J., Noff, J. T., and Brumfield, R. C.: Magnetoacoustics and Thermacoustics. Sound, pp. 33-38, March-April 1963.

- 55. Carome, E. F., Clark, N. A., and Moeller, C. E.: Generation of Acoustic Signals in Liquids by Ruby Laser - Induced Thermal Stress Transients. Appl. Phys. Letter, Vol. 4, pp. 95-97, March 1964.
- 56. Moore, D. W. and Spiegel, E. A.: A Thermally Excited Non-Linear Oscillator. Astro, Phys. J., Vol. 142, pp. 871-887, 1966.
- 57. Spradley, L. W., Bourgeois, S. V., Fan, C., and Grodzka, P. G.: A Numerical Solution for Thermoacoustic Convection of Fluids in Low Gravity. Lockheed Missiles and Space Co., Inc., Huntsville Research and Engineering Center, HREC-7015-2, LMSC-HREC TR D 306140, Jan. 1973.
- 58. Gebhart, B.: Random Convection Under Conditions of Weightlessness, AIAA J., Vol. 1, pp. 380-383, 1973.
- 59. Wong. J. and Melcher, J. R.: Thermally Induced Electroconvection. Phys. Fluids, Vol. 12, No. 11, pp. 2264-2269, 1969.
- Turnbull, R.: Electroconvective Instability with a Stabilizing Temperature Gradient; II Experimental Results. Phys. Fluids, Vol. 11, No. 12, pp. 2297-2603, 1968.
- 61. Blackman, J. B.: The Onset of Bulk Electroconvection in an Isothermal Dielectric Fluid. Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. of California, Los Angeles, 1971.
- 62. Malkus, W. V. R. and Veronis, G.: Surface Electroconvection. Phys. Fluids, Vol. 12, p. 2264, 1969.
- 63. Levich, V. G.: Physiocochemical Hydrodynamics. Prentice-Hall, N. J., 1962.
- 64. Bier, M.: Electrophoresis. Academic Press, N. Y., 1959.
- 65. McKannan, E. C., et al: Electrophoresis Separation in Space-Apollo 14. NASA TM X-64611, MSFC, August 1971.
- 66. Strickler, A. and Sacks, T. I.: Continuous Free-Film Electrophoresis: The Crescent Phenomenon. Beckman Instruments, Inc., May 11, 1970.

- 67. Carruthers, J. R. and Wolfe, R.: Magnetothermal Convection in Insulating Paramagnetic Fluids. J. Appl. Phys., Vol. 39, No. 12, pp. 5718-5788, 1968.
- 68. Strong, C. L.: Experiments with Salt Fountains and Related Instabilities in Water. Sci. Am., pp. 124-128, June 1971.
- 69. Brian, P. L. T., Vivian J. E., and Mayr, S. T.: Cellular Convection in Desorbing Surface Tension-Lowering Solutes from Water. Ind. Eng. Chem. Fundam., Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 75-83, 1971.
- 70. Brian, P. L. T.: Effect of Gibbs Adsorption on Marangoni Instability. AIChE J., Vol. 17, pp. 765-772, 1971.
- 71. Turner, J. S. and Stommel, H.: A New Case of Convection in the Presence of Combined Vertical Salinity and Temperature Gradients, Geophysics. Vol. 25, pp. 49-53, 1964.
- 72. Yih, C. S.: Some Results of the Non-Oscillation of Salt Fingers, Phys. Fluids, Vol. 13, No. 12, pp. 2907-2911, December 1970.
- Finlayson, B. A.: Approximate Solutions of Equations of Change; Convective Instability by Active Stress. Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. of Minnesota, 1965.
- 74. Chin, J. J., Sliebcevich, C. M., and Tribus, M.: Particle Size Distribution from Angular Variation of Intensity of Forward Scattered Light at Very Small Angles; Determination of Particle Size Distribution in Polydispersed Systems by Means of Measurements of Angular Variations of Intensity of Forward Scattered Light at Very Small Angles. J. Phys. Chem., Vol. 59, pp. 841-844 and pp. 845-848, 1955.
- 75. Wolfenden, E. A.: Foaming of Bearing Metals During Casting. Metal Progress, Vol. 50, pp. 479-480, 1946.
- 76. Harper, J., More, D., and Pearson, J.: The Effects on Variation of Surface Tension with Temperature on the Motion of Bubbles and Drops. J. Fluid Mech., Vol. 27, pp. 361-366, 1967.
- 77. White, D. W. G.: The Surface Tension of Liquid Metals and Alloys. Met. Rev., Vol. 13, pp. 73-96, 1968.

## REFERENCES (cont<sup>i</sup>d)

- 78. Leacock, J. A., and Churchill, S. W.: Mass Transfer Between Isobutanol and Water in Concurrent Flow Through a Packed Bed. A.I. Ch. E., J., Vol. 1, pp. 196-199, 1961.
- 79. Rigg, R. G., and Churchill, S. W.: The Behavior of Immiscible Liquids in Concurrent Flow Through Packed Beds. A.I. Ch. E. J., Vol. 10, pp. 810-816, 1964.
- Vinson, G. G., and Churchill, S. W.: Removal of Drops from Liquid-Liquid Dispersions Upon Flow through Screens. Chem. Eng. J., Vol. 1, pp. 110-119, 1970.
- Merte, H., and Clark, J. A.: Boiling Heat Transfer with Cryogenic Fluids at Standard, Fractional, and Near-Zero Gravity. J. Heat Transfer, Vol. 86, p. 351, 1969.
- 82. Bakhru, N. and Lienhard, J. H.: Boiling From Small Cylinders. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, Vol. 15, pp. 2011-2025, 1972.
- 83. Littles, J. W. and Walls, H. A.: Nucleate Pool Boiling of Freon 113 at Reduced Gravity Levels. ASME Paper No. 70-HT-17, 1970.
- 84. Peterson, W. C. and Zaalouk, M. G.: Boiling Curve Measurements From a Controlled Heat Transfer Process. Trans. ASME, J. Heat Transfer, Vol. 93, pp. 408-412, Nov. 1971.
- Siegel, R. and Keshock, E. G.: Effects of Reduced Gravity on Nucleate Boiling Bubble Dynamics in Saturated Water. A. I. Ch. E. J., Vol. 10, No. 4, pp. 509-517, 1964.
- 86. Keshock, E. G. and Siegel, R.: Forces Acting on Bubbles in Nucleate Boiling Under Normal and Reduced Gravity Conditions. NASA TN D-2299, 1964.
- 87. Cochran, T. H. and Aydelott, J. C.: An Experimental Investigation of Boiling in Normal and Zero Gravity. NASA TM X-52264, 1967.
- Jawurek, H. H.: Simultaneous Determination of Microlayer Geometry and Bubble Growth in Nucleate Boiling. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, Vol. 12, pp. 843-848, 1969.

- 89. Fontana, D. M.: Simultaneous Measurement of Bubble Growth Rate and Thermal Flux from the Heating Wall to the Boiling Fluid Near the Nucleation Site. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, Vol. 15, pp. 707-720, 1972.
- 90. Cooper, M. G. and Hoyd, A. J. P.: Transient Load Heat Flux in Nucleate Boiling. Proceedings of the 3rd International Heat Transfer Conference, pp. 193-203, 1966.
- 91. Roemer, R. B.: Surface Temperature Fluctuations During Steady State Boiling. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, Vol. 13, pp. 985-996, 1970.
- 92. Huplik, V., and Raithby, G. D.: Surface Tension Effects in Boiling from a Downward-Facing Surface. Trans. ASME, J. of Heat Transfer, Vol. 94, pp. 403-409, Nov. 1972.
- 93. Larkin, B. K.: Thermocapillary Flow Around a Hemispherical Bubble. A.I.Ch. E. Journal, Vol. 16, pp. 101-107, 1970.
- 94. McGrew. J. L., Bamford, F., and Brown, D.: The Marangoni Effect in Boiling Heat Transfer. Paper presented at 62nd National Meeting, A.I. Ch. E., May 1967.
- 95. Papell, S. S.: An Instability Effect on Two-Phase Heat Transfer for Subcooled Water Flowing Under Conditions of Zero Gravity. Paper No. 2548-62, Am. Rocket Soc. Space Power Systems Conference, Santa Monica, Calif., 1962.
- 96. Feldmanis, C. J.: Pressure and Temperature Changes in Closed Loop Forced Convection Boiling and Condensing Processes Under Zero Gravity Conditions. Proc. Inst. Environmental Sciences, San Diego, Calif., 1966.
- 97. Papell, S. S., Simoneau, R. J., and Brown, D. D.: Buoyancy Effects on the Critical Heat Flux of Forced Convection Boiling in Vertical Flow. NASA TN D-3672, 1966.
- 98. Lancet, R. T., Abramson, P. B., and Forslund, R. B.: The Fluid Mechanics of Condensing Mercury in a Low-Gravity Environment. Fluid Mechanics and Heat Transfer Under Low Gravity. pp. 6-1 to 6-52, Proceedings of a symposium held in Palo Alto, Calif., 1965, USAF Office of Scientific Research and Lockheed Missiles and Space Co.

### REFERENCES (concl<sup>†</sup>d)

Siegel, R.: Effects of Reduced Gravity on Heat Transfer. Advances in Heat Transfer, Vol. 4, J. P. Hartnett and T. F. Irvine, Jr., eds., pp. 144-228, 1967.

- 100. Solimon, M. Schuster, J. R., and Coombs, M. G.: Analysis, Criteria Development, and Design of an Orbital Condensing Heat Transfer Experiment. Airesearch Manufacturing Div. Prog. Rept., Jan. 1967, NASA Contract NAS 8-21005.
- Duwez, P.: Metastable Phases Obtained by Rapid Quenching from Liquid State. Pergamon Press, Oxford and New York, 1966.
- 102. Giessen, B. C.: Constitution of Non-equilibrium Alloys After Rapid Quenching from the Melt. Thesis 1969, Massachusetts Institute of Mechnology, Cambridge, Mass.
- 103. Lawrence, F. D.: A Theoretical Study of the Phenomena Associated with the Impingement of a Liquid Drop on a Hoa Surface. Ph.D Thesis 1968, Carnegie-Mellon University, Pittsburgh, Penn.
- 104. Toda, T. and Maddin R.: The Mechanical Properties of Splat-Cooled Aluminum-Based Gold Alloys. Trans. AIME, Vol. 245, pp. 1045-1054, May 1969.
- 105. Bourgeois, S. V.: Study of MS/MS Convection. 5th Bimonthly Progress Report, Contract NAS8-29610, Lockheed Missiles and Space Co., Hunstville Research and Engineering Center, May 10, 1974.
- 106. Garriott, O. K.: Skylab Report: Man's Role in Space Research. Science, Vol. 186, No. 4160, Oct. 18, 1974, pp. 219-226.